UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

-v.-

DELOWAR MOHAMMED HOSSAIN,

Defendant.

S1 19 Cr. 606 (SHS)

THE GOVERNMENT'S SENTENCING MEMORANDUM

DAMIAN WILLIAMS United States Attorney for the Southern District of New York One Saint Andrew's Plaza New York, New York 10007

Benjamin Woodside Schrier Assistant United States Attorney Of Counsel

CONTENTS

BACKGROUND	2
I. Offense Conduct	2
A. Hossain Consumes al Qaeda Propaganda and Plans to Attack a U.S. Military Recru Station in the Bronx	_
B. Hossain Researches the Taliban and Plans to Travel to Afghanistan, Join the Taliand Fight in Their Jihad	
C. Hossain Recruits At Least Six Other Individuals to Travel to Afghanistan, Join Taliban, and Fight in Their Jihad	
D. Hossain Saves \$10,000 in Cash to Buy Weapons to Use While Fighting in the Talib Jihad and to Survive in Afghanistan	
E. Hossain Buys Mountain Survival Gear and Other Supplies to Use in Afghanistan W Fighting in the Taliban's Jihad	
F. Hossain Contacts Former Taliban Fighter and Current Taliban Supporter Zaid Ham Pakistan to Get Connected with the Taliban in Afghanistan	
G. Hossain Takes Steps to Evade Detection by Law Enforcement, Including Buying a F Ticket to Thailand	
H. Hossain Travels to JFK Airport, Attempts to Board His Flight to Thailand, ar Arrested	
II. Procedural History	22
DISCUSSION	24
I. Applicable Law	24
II. Probation Correctly Calculated the Guidelines Range as 420 Months' Imprisonment	24
A. Probation Correctly Calculated the Base Offense Level as 33	25
B. Probation Correctly Applied the Six-Level Official-Victim Enhancement	28
C. Probation Correctly Applied the 12-Level Terrorism Enhancement	30
III. The Sentencing Factors Call for a Guidelines Sentence	36
A. The Seriousness of the Offenses, Promoting Respect for the Law, and Providing Punishment for the Offenses Warrant a Guidelines Sentence	
B. Affording Adequate Deterrence to Criminal Conduct and Protecting the Public Further Crimes of Hossain Warrant a Guidelines Sentence	
C. A Guidelines Sentence Would Not Result in Unwarranted Sentencing Disparities	46
D. Defense Counsel's Remaining Arguments Do Not Establish Mitigation	50
CONCLUSION	53

AUTHORITIES

Cases	
Gall v. United States, 552 U.S. 38 (2007)	
U.S. v. Mohammed, No. 06 Cr. 357 (CKK) (D.D.C.)	
United States v. Alaa Sadeh, 15 Cr. 558 (D.N.J.)	
United States v. Alimehmeti, 16 Cr. 398 (S.D.N.Y. 2017)	
United States v. Awan, 607 F.3d 306 (2d Cir. 2010)	
United States v. Babafemi, 2021 WL 1210313 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2021)	
United States v. Ceasar, 10 F.4th 66 (2d Cir. 2021)	31, 48, 49
United States v. Clark, No. 20 Cr. 76 (NRB) (S.D.N.Y.)	47
United States v. Cromitie, 2011 WL 2693293 (S.D.N.Y. 2011)	
United States v. El Bahnasawy, 16 Cr. 376 (S.D.N.Y. 2016)	
United States v. Farhane, et al., No. 05 Cr. 673 (LAP) (S.D.N.Y.)	46, 47
United States v. Kaziu, No. 09 Cr. 660 (JG) (E.D.N.Y.)	
United States v. Kourani, 6 F. 4th 345 (2d Cir. 2021)	47
United States v. Meskini, 319 F.3d 88 (2d Cir. 2003)	
United States v. Mumuni, 946 F.3d 97 (2d Cir. 2019)	30, 44, 49, 52
United States v. Naji, No. 16 Cr. 653 (FB) (E.D.N.Y.)	49
United States v. Polk, 118 F.3d 286 (5th Cir. 1997	29
United States v. Pugh, 15 Cr. 116 (NGG) (E.D.N.Y.)	47
United States v. Rahimi, 16 Cr. 760 (S.D.N.Y. 2017)	
United States v. Raishani, No. 17 Cr. 421 (RA) (S.D.N.Y.)	39, 40, 46, 47
United States v. Saidakhmetov, 2018 WL 461516 (WFK) (E.D.N.Y.)	49
United States v. Stewart, 590 F.3d 93 (2d Cir. 2009)	31, 44, 49
United States v. Zea, 13 Cr. 72 (SJF) (E.D.N.Y.)	47
Statutes	
18 U.S.C. § 1512	48
18 U.S.C. § 1542	46
18 U.S.C. § 2332	passim
18 U.S.C. § 2339	passim
18 U.S.C. § 3553	passim
18 U.S.C. § 371	46
21 U.S.C. § 960	
31 C.F.R § 594.310	22
31 C.F.R. § 595.204	
31 C.F.R. § 595.205	22
50 U.S.C. § 1705	
Other Authorities	
International Emergency Economic Powers Act	
United States Sentencing Guidelines	
Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act of 1994	30

The Government respectfully submits this memorandum in advance of the sentencing hearing of Delowar Mohammed Hossain ("Hossain" or the "defendant"), which is currently scheduled to take place on March 17, 2022. As explained below, the Court should sentence the defendant to 420 months' imprisonment, which is the sentence recommended by the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines (the "Guidelines" or "U.S.S.G").

Hossain is a dangerous, radicalized extremist who devoted himself to killing Americans. He initially planned to use machineguns to attack a military recruiting station in the Bronx. Worried that the attack would not kill enough people, he shifted his focus to traveling to Afghanistan and joining the Taliban, an extremist organization that had killed thousands of Americans and would kill many more. Over the next 10 months, Hossain meticulously planned his journey to jihad. He researched the Taliban and consumed its propaganda; recruited at least six other individuals to travel with him; saved \$10,000 in cash to buy weapons; stockpiled mountain survival gear; contacted a former Taliban fighter in Pakistan; and took numerous steps to evade detection by law enforcement. Among those Hossain brought into his circle was a confidential source working with the FBI, which enabled the FBI to gain access to Hossain and ultimately thwart his murderous plot.

The sentence of no more than 72 months that defense counsel request would not come close to reflecting the extremely serious nature of the defendant's offenses; providing just punishment for his conduct; deterring and preventing him from resuming his activities in support of radical Islamic terrorist ideology; and deterring others in the United States from seeking to join dangerous extremist groups like the Taliban. Instead, all the relevant sentencing factors militate strongly in favor of a significant incarceratory sentence. Such a sentence is warranted to account for Hossain's egregious attempt to take up arms against his country and kill his fellow citizens.

BACKGROUND

I. Offense Conduct

A. Hossain Consumes al Qaeda Propaganda and Plans to Attack a U.S. Military Recruiting Station in the Bronx

In or about March 2018, at a mosque in the Bronx ("Mosque-1"), the defendant approached a confidential source ("CS-1") working with the FBI and struck up a conversation with him. *See* Trial Tr. ("Tr.") 160–61. CS-1 was at Mosque-1 for reasons unrelated to the defendant and knew nothing about him before they met. *See* Tr. 161. During their conversation at Mosque-1, the defendant suggested that he and CS-1 pray at a different mosque ("Mosque-2") in the Bronx, because the majority of worshippers at Mosque-1 were Shia Muslims, while the defendant and CS-1 were Sunni Muslims. *See* Tr. 161. Toward the end of the conversation, the defendant and CS-1 exchanged phone numbers. *See* Tr. 162.

In or about April 2018, the defendant contacted CS-1, sent him the address of Mosque-2, and arranged to meet him there. *See* Tr. 163–68; GX 545 (April 2018 text messages between defendant and CS-1 regarding Mosque-2), 705 (photograph of Mosque-2). That same day, the defendant and CS-1 met at the defendant's vehicle, which was parked near Mosque-2; entered Mosque-2 and prayed; and exited Mosque-2 and entered the vehicle. *See* Tr. 168. Inside the vehicle, the defendant told CS-1 that he liked to listen to recordings of Anwar al-Awlaki, the now-deceased former key organizer and spokesman for al Qaeda who has inspired radical Islamic terrorists around the world, and asked CS-1 what he thought about al-Awlaki. *See* Tr. 168. Toward the end of the conversation, the defendant stated that one day, God willing ("In sha'Allah"), there would be jihad. *See* Tr. 168. Approximately two weeks later, the defendant and CS-1 met at Mosque-2 and prayed there for a second time. *See* Tr. 170–71.

Between in or about April 2018, when the defendant and CS-1 met at Mosque-2 for the first time, and September 11, 2018, when CS-1 next saw the defendant in person, the defendant and CS-1 occasionally communicated by phone. *See* Tr. 173, 828–33; GX 910–11 (records and records key related to defendant's phone number), 712 (summary chart reflecting communications between defendant and CS-1).

On September 11, 2018, without advance notice, the defendant arrived at CS-1's store in the Bronx. See Tr. 174. The defendant told CS-1 that the defendant wanted to speak with CS-1, and asked CS-1 to leave the store and enter the defendant's vehicle, which was parked outside. See Tr. 174. The defendant and CS-1 left the store and entered the vehicle. See Tr. 174. Inside the vehicle, the defendant stated that he was ready for jihad, and that he and CS-1 could attack a U.S. military recruiting station on Fordham Road in the Bronx. See Tr. 175, 191; GX 1014 (video surveillance footage from store depicting foregoing events). After the conversation in the defendant's vehicle, the defendant left the store, and CS-1 contacted the FBI and reported what the defendant had stated. See Tr. 175–76. The FBI instructed CS-1 to invite the defendant to visit his store again and gave CS-1 a recording device to record any conversation that he had with the defendant when he returned. See Tr. 179-80.

On September 21, 2018, at CS-1's invitation, the defendant returned to the store, and the defendant and CS-1 had another conversation in the defendant's vehicle while it was parked outside. *See* Tr. 179-81. CS-1 recorded that conversation with the device that the FBI had given

¹ There is a U.S. military recruiting station located near the intersection of Fordham Road and Grand Concourse in the Bronx.

him. See Tr. 181. During the conversation, the defendant told CS-1 to turn off his phones to prevent law enforcement from listening in. See Tr. 187; GX 201, 201-T. The defendant also stated that he had listened to all of al-Awlaki's lectures. See Tr. 197–98; GX 201, 201-T. Additionally, the defendant discussed his attempts to buy AK-47 assault rifles for \$700 each; his plans to use the rifles in an attack on the recruiting station; and his expectation that, in such an attack, everyone inside the recruiting station would be killed. See Tr. 190–94; GX 201, 201-T, 202, 202-T. The defendant further stated that the attack on the recruiting station would be legitimate because of the war against the U.S. government. See GX 201, 201-T. During a later recorded conversation, the defendant told CS-1 that he had learned how to make bombs with "gun powder" and "nails" from an al Qaeda "make-your-own-bomb or make-your-own jihad type of magazine" that he had read online, and that he was worried that his having accessed the magazine would allow the FBI to trace him. See GX 207, 207-T.

B. Hossain Researches the Taliban and Plans to Travel to Afghanistan, Join the Taliban, and Fight in Their Jihad

During the same September 21, 2018 recorded conversation, the defendant also discussed traveling to Afghanistan, joining the Taliban, and fighting in their jihad against U.S. and coalition forces instead of attacking the recruiting station. The defendant stated, "What I was thinking . . . is moving. Moving to Pakistan. From there, finding the Taliban. And then joining them. Because the Taliban, I've been doing a lot of research on them. They . . . have a legitimate jihad, which is without any doubt by the will of Allah, we will not be faltered." GX 201, 201-T.

The defendant described several reasons why he was planning to join the Taliban, including his concerns that, to successfully attack the recruiting station, he would need more ammunition,

and more and better-trained people to join the attack; that the attack would kill only one or two people, which was not enough; that he would be arrested and imprisoned for the attack; that law enforcement would retaliate against his family for the attack; that he had not sworn an oath of allegiance ("bay'ah") to a leader ("emir") who would lead the attack, as required by the fundamentalist interpretation of Sunni Islam to which the defendant subscribes; and that, generally speaking, joining the Taliban and fighting in their jihad more closely accorded with his fundamentalist beliefs. *See* Tr. 191–98; GX 201, 201-T, 202, 202-T, 203, 203-T, 204, 204-T. The defendant was worried that, if he died in the attack on the recruiting station, there would be no guarantee that he would become a martyr ("shahid") and go to heaven ("Jannah"); but if he died fighting with the Taliban in their jihad, his martyrdom would be assured. *See* GX 201, 201-T. This was particularly true in the defendant's view because, while fighting with the Taliban in their jihad, the defendant would have an emir to follow: a Taliban commander to whom he would give bay'ah. *See* Tr. 195–96, 536–37, 682; GX 203, 203-T, 336, 336-T.

As early as that first recorded conversation, the defendant was already discussing the specifics of his plot to travel to Afghanistan, join the Taliban, and fight in their jihad. The defendant explained that, if he tried to buy a plane ticket for a direct flight to Afghanistan, he might be stopped by law enforcement; so instead, he planned to buy a ticket for a flight to Pakistan, and then travel overland across the border from Pakistan into Afghanistan. *See* GX 201, 201-T. The defendant also stated that it would be "very easy" to find people in Pakistan who could connect him with the Taliban. *See* GX 203, 203-T. Indeed, the defendant had already identified a mosque in Pakistan that supported the Taliban; the leader ("imam") of the mosque encouraged individuals to fight in the Taliban's jihad. *See* GX 203, 203-T. The defendant had watched videos about the

mosque on YouTube. *See* GX 203, 203-T. The defendant stated, "[I]f we go to Pakistan, all we have to do is find that mosque" to get connected with the Taliban. *See* GX 203, 203-T.

During the same conversation, the defendant stated that he had started going to the gym every other day to train his body for jihad. *See* GX 202, 202-T. He also discussed recruiting other individuals to attack the recruiting station, as well as recruiting other individuals to travel to Afghanistan, join the Taliban, and fight in their jihad. *See* GX 204, 204-T. The defendant was explicit when answering CS-1's questions about whom he and the Taliban would be fighting:

CS-1: And if you go over there who are you going to fight?

DEFENDANT: You fight the American government, from there, . . . combined

with the Taliban

CS-1: Why is the, the U.S. government is there too?

DEFENDANT: Yes! You've got U.S. government...

CS-1: You got the army there, you got . . .

DEFENDANT: The U.S. government, army, is over there in . . . Afghanistan.

So we're going to Pakistan, and then we're going to Afghanistan

from Pakistan.

CS-1: And we can fight them?

DEFENDANT: We fight them over there. Because then we'll be with the

mujahideen [jihadist guerilla fighters], so we have an emir, we

have the social structure, we have everything.

GX 203, 203-T.

On October 24, 2018, approximately one month later, the defendant met with CS-1 again, and CS-1 again recorded the conversation. *See* Tr. 198–201; GX 205, 205-T, 207, 207-T. During the conversation, the defendant discussed how he planned to evade detection by law enforcement

on his way to Afghanistan to join the Taliban and fight in their jihad, and how he planned to get connected with the Taliban through individuals in Pakistan. *See* Tr. 199–201; GX 205, 205-T. For example, the defendant explained that he would buy a round-trip plane ticket, instead of a one-way ticket, even though he was not planning to return, because a one-way ticket would look suspicious. *See* GX 205, 205-T. The defendant also stated that he had seen a video on YouTube of a leader ("sheikh") in Pakistan who supported jihad, and that he could go to Pakistan and find the sheikh. *See* Tr. 200; GX 205, 205-T. Additionally, the defendant discussed waiting to travel to Afghanistan until at least May 2018, when James Bradley, a/k/a "Abdullah," one of his co-conspirators, would turn 18, because traveling with Bradley before he was 18 would increase the risk that they would be stopped. *See* GX 205, 205-T, 212, 212-T.

C. Hossain Recruits At Least Six Other Individuals to Travel to Afghanistan, Join the Taliban, and Fight in Their Jihad

As described above, during the defendant's October 24, 2018 conversation with CS-1, the defendant discussed Bradley, one of his co-conspirators, who planned to travel to Afghanistan, join the Taliban, and fight in their jihad with him. *See* GX 205, 205-T, 212, 212-T. Bradley was young, zealous, and strict in his adherence to radical Islam; trained in martial arts; and had converted to Islam from Catholicism, after which he took the Muslim name "Abdullah." *See* Tr. 204, 608–09; GX 205, 205-T, 220, 220-T. The defendant had met Bradley before the defendant met CS-1. *See* Tr. 204, 609. In or about October 2018, the defendant introduced CS-1 to Bradley. *See* Tr. 209; GX 211, 211-T. After CS-1 introduced the defendant to another confidential source ("CS-2") (collectively with CS-1, the "CSes") working with the FBI in or about November 2018,

see Tr. 251–55, 590–91; GX 225, 225-T, the defendant also introduced CS-2 to Bradley, see Tr. 255, 607–08.

The defendant, Bradley, and the CSes thereafter began frequently meeting in person and communicating through WhatsApp group message threads to discuss the details of the defendant's plot to travel to Afghanistan, join the Taliban, and fight in their jihad, and to exchange Taliban propaganda and other materials related to the Taliban and jihad. *See* Tr. 255–60, 590–619; GX 230, 230-T, 532–44 (screenshots from "Brothers" WhatsApp group message thread including defendant, Bradley, and CSes), 526–31 (screenshots from "5 brothers one camel" WhatsApp group message thread including defendant, Bradley, and CSes), 1015 (February 22, 2019 video surveillance footage of defendant and Bradley together on street in Bronx).

During the in-person meetings, the defendant, Bradley, and the CSes discussed various aspects of the defendant's plot. For example, just as he had done during the first recorded conversation with CS-1, the defendant often underscored the importance of training their bodies for jihad. *See* GX 230, 230-T, 280, 280-T. Bradley also shared information regarding which provinces of Afghanistan the Taliban controlled; multiple overland routes that they could potentially take into Afghanistan, including from Pakistan and Tajikistan; and another foreign terrorist organization operating in Afghanistan that Bradley believed worked with the Taliban. *See* GX 238, 238-T. In the WhatsApp group message threads, the defendant and Bradley circulated links to various types of materials concerning the Taliban and jihad, including the following:

• a link to the Wikipedia page for the Darul Uloom Haqqania, an Islamic seminary in northwestern Pakistan where a number of leading members of the Taliban studied, which

has been dubbed the "University of Jihad" due to its methods and content of instruction and the future activities of its alumni, *see* Tr. 835–36; GX 538;

- a YouTube video titled "Jihad Verses from the Quran," see Tr. 837–38; GX 540;
- a YouTube video titled "Can A Muslim Be Punished In The Grave Imam Anwar Al Awlaki," see Tr. 838–39; GX 531;
- a YouTube video titled "Taliban talks: Chilling face-to-face interview with terror commander Qari Nasrullah," *see* Tr. 840–42; GX 538, 1005 (screenshot of video), 1006 (clip from video); and
- a YouTube video titled "Behind The Taliban Mask: The Other Side of Afghanistan's Front-line," *see* Tr. 843–46; GX 538, 1011 (screenshot from video), 1001–02 (clips from video), 1004 (clip from video). The "Behind The Taliban Mask" YouTube video depicts members of the Taliban carrying assault rifles; using the rifles, rocket launchers, and other heavy weaponry to attack U.S. and coalition forces in Afghanistan; and discussing the many U.S. servicemembers whom the Taliban had killed, *see* GX 1001–02, 1004.

In addition to exchanging these materials, the defendant also discussed in person with Bradley and the CSes his plot to kill U.S. servicemembers with the Taliban in Afghanistan. *See* Tr. 169, 194, 199, 273, 295, 351–52, 589, 592; GX 307, 307-T. For example, during a February 8, 2019 recorded conversation with CS-1, the defendant discussed using AK-47s and pistols to fight with the Taliban in their jihad, and the Taliban's use of rocket launchers against U.S. and coalition forces in Afghanistan:

Each of us, we'll probably... get AK-47, one pistol. Small ones to carry on the side, and have an AK-47. If you run out of ammo you take this one and boom boom. Ha Ha! War, baby.... You can kill more people like that.... Right now,

with the modern warfare? Eh, what the Taliban do, they stand on top of a mountain, right? And they see the cars pass by. . . . They . . . shoot it with a rocket launcher at the car and just kill everybody in the car. One rocket, that's it. Everybody dead. So they don't even know where it came from.... Yeah, that's why they [the United States] can't win because they go—the Taliban stay all the way in the mountain, you can't see where they are. They just shoot them, then boom, done. It's called guerilla warfare. This is why they can't win against us [the Taliban]. Even though you have all these weapon, all of this—what are you gonna do with the weapon when you don't know where your enemy is. . . . They're always hiding somewhere. They dig holes underneath the grass.... They hide underneath the thing. Like, inside, ah—like underground, they make holes and they're still living in there. And then when the time comes, they go "pip," that's it, done. And then it's like, "What the—what happened? We have millions of dollars of weapons and we can't do nothing to these guys. We don't know where they are.".... Because they're not afraid to die, you know? They don't mind. They don't care. They don't care. They don't care.

GX 251, 251-T; *see also* Tr. 295. Additionally, during an April 4, 2019 recorded conversation with CS-1, the defendant stated that he wanted "to kill some kufar before [he] die[d]." GX 309, 309-T. The word "kufar" means infidel or non-believer; when the defendant used the term, he was referring to Americans. *See, e.g.*, Tr. 272–73, 294–95, 481, 536, 602, 647, 650–51.

Eventually, after the defendant had been discussing for months the details of his plot to travel to Afghanistan, join the Taliban, and fight in their jihad with Bradley and the CSes, the defendant arranged for them to give bay'ah to him and make him their emir. *See* Tr. 195, 290, 476–77, 622, 679, 682. As CS-1 testified at trial, the defendant "nominated himself," Tr. 477; the defendant "asked that he be in charge of [them], and [they gave] him that," Tr. 195.

Bradley and the CSes were not the only individuals whom the defendant recruited. For instance, the defendant recruited an individual who used the Muslim name Abdul Jalil. *See* Tr. 209–12, 607. The defendant introduced Abdul Jalil to CS-1. *See* Tr. 209–12; GX 1016 (FaceTime video between defendant and CS-1 depicting defendant, Bradley, and Abdul Jalil at restaurant).

Through the defendant's introduction, Abdul Jalil participated in the "5 brothers one camel" WhatsApp group message thread, in which he was the fifth "brother." *See* Tr. 607; GX 526–31.

Additionally, the defendant recruited another individual to support him financially in traveling to Afghanistan, joining the Taliban, and fighting in their jihad, but the individual stopped communicating with the defendant when the individual lost his faith in Islam. *See* Tr. 212–13; GX 206, 206-T. The defendant also recruited a different individual whom he was trying to get to know because the individual had connections to many other individuals in Afghanistan; the defendant was interested in using the individual to get connected with the Taliban. *See* Tr. 213–14; GX 215, 215-T.

More generally, the defendant discussed trying to recruit other individuals as part of his Da'wah (inviting or calling individuals to embrace Islam) for jihad. *See* Tr. 215–16; GX 269, 269-T. In total, the defendant attempted to recruit at least six individuals, including the CSes. The defendant explained, "I'm the one who went around, taking, gathering you guys together." *See* Tr. 217; GX 276, 276-T.

D. Hossain Saves \$10,000 in Cash to Buy Weapons to Use While Fighting in the Taliban's Jihad and to Survive in Afghanistan

Between September 21, 2018, when CS-1 first recorded a conversation with the defendant, and July 26, 2019, when the defendant was arrested at John F. Kennedy International Airport ("JFK Airport"), the defendant repeatedly stressed how important it was that he, Bradley, and the CSes each save \$10,000 in cash, the maximum amount that they could each legally take out of the United States when leaving for Afghanistan to join the Taliban. *See* Tr. 264–67; GX 209, 209-T, 217, 217-T, 222, 222-T.

When discussing the importance of saving \$10,000 in cash, the defendant stated to CS-1, "Because when you go over there [Afghanistan], Akhi [brother], you're gonna need money to buy weapons too. . . . Because nobody's gonna give you free weapons." GX 222, 222-T. The defendant further explained that he, Bradley, and the CSes also needed to save \$10,000 each so that they had enough money to "at least survive a year . . . on [their] own" as they made their way to Afghanistan to join the Taliban. GX 209, 209-T. As CS-1 testified, the defendant "said that we needed a lot of money so when we get there [Pakistan, and eventually, Afghanistan], we can buy some weapons, until such time when we join the bigger organization [the Taliban], and staying there [Afghanistan] will require some money anyway." Tr. 264–65. In the WhatsApp group message threads, Bradley sent the defendant and the CSes a link to a YouTube video titled "The Gun Shops of Kabul." *See* GX 534.

Between January 5, 2019 (less than four months after the first recorded conversation with CS-1), and July 3, 2019 (approximately three weeks before his arrest), the defendant made 39 cash withdrawals from his JPMorgan Chase Bank account. *See* Tr. 823–26; GX 908 (records related to bank account), 702 (summary chart reflecting cash withdrawals from bank account). The total amount of cash that the defendant withdrew from his bank account during this time period was approximately \$10,002.25. *See* Tr. 823–26; GX 908, 702. Additionally, as discussed in greater detail below, when the defendant was arrested at JFK Airport, law enforcement found \$10,100 in cash on his person during a search incident to his arrest. *See* Tr. 117–18; GX 140 (photograph of \$10,100 in cash seized during search incident to defendant's arrest).

E. Hossain Buys Mountain Survival Gear and Other Supplies to Use in Afghanistan While Fighting in the Taliban's Jihad

On or about January 24, 2019, at the defendant's direction, the defendant, Bradley, and the CSes traveled to a Best Buy store in Queens, where they bought several two-way radios that each had a range of 38 miles. *See* Tr. 283–89, 619–21; GX 1013 (video surveillance footage from Best Buy depicting group buying the radios), 401 (photograph of gift card used to buy the radios), 402 (photograph of receipt from Best Buy reflecting purchase of the radios). The defendant and the CSes also traveled to a mall and bought cold-weather clothing, including jackets and gloves, to wear during the freezing Afghan winter while fighting in the Taliban's jihad against U.S. and coalition forces. *See* Tr. 630–31; GX 279, 279-T.

Additionally, in or about May 2019, the defendant began ordering supplies from Amazon for himself, Bradley, and the CSes to use in Afghanistan while fighting in the Taliban's jihad. *See* Tr. 278–83, 317–29, 610–11, 618, 630–36; GX 280, 280-T, 299, 299-T, 322, 322-T, 141 (photographs of supplies), 503 (screenshots from "Vacation talk" WhatsApp group message thread including defendant and CSes), 902 (Amazon records reflecting defendant's purchase of supplies). The defendant ordered the supplies using an Amazon account that he had created for that purpose, and had the supplies delivered to CS-1's store instead of his own residence in the Bronx to avoid arousing his wife's suspicion. *See* Tr. 279, 317–29, 631–32; GX 141, 503, 902. As depicted in part below, the supplies included a machete; an ax; a knife; a serrated ring saw; a four-person tent; sleeping bags rated for freezing conditions; emergency thermal blankets; solar power panels; personal water filters; a fire starter; a 12-volt car jump starter; and many other similar items:



GX 141; *see also* Tr. 278–83, 317–29, 630–36; GX 280, 280-T, 299, 299-T, 322, 322-T, 503, 902. The defendant, Bradley, and the CSes also discussed the supplies in the WhatsApp group message threads. *See* Tr. 610–11, 618; GX 503.

F. Hossain Contacts Former Taliban Fighter and Current Taliban Supporter Zaid Hamid in Pakistan to Get Connected with the Taliban in Afghanistan

On February 3, 2019, the defendant met with CS-1, and CS-1 recorded the conversation. *See* Tr. 201–02; GX 246, 246-T, 250, 250-T. During the conversation, the defendant used his

phone or iPad to play for CS-1 a video of an interview of an individual named Zaid Hamid. *See* GX 250, 250-T. The defendant explained that Hamid was a member of the Pakistani military who previously fought with the Taliban for six years and still had connections with the Taliban. *See* GX 250, 250-T. The defendant sent a Facebook message to Hamid in an effort to get connected with the Taliban but Hamid did not respond. *See* Tr. 201–02; GX 246, 246-T. Even though Hamid did not respond, the defendant remained confident that he would be able to find Hamid in Pakistan, because Hamid moved around without security. *See* GX 246, 246-T.

In the WhatsApp group message threads, the defendant later sent Bradley and the CSes a link to a YouTube video titled "Zaid Hamid: Intense, philosophical, ideological & spiritual discussion with a group of students." *See* Tr. 646–47; GX 531.²

G. Hossain Takes Steps to Evade Detection by Law Enforcement, Including Buying a Plane Ticket to Thailand

Between September 21, 2018, when CS-1 first recorded a conversation with the defendant, and July 26, 2019, when the defendant was arrested, the defendant frequently took steps to evade detection by law enforcement and instructed Bradley and the CSes to do the same. As described above, during their first recorded conversation, the defendant told CS-1 to turn off his phones to prevent law enforcement from listening in. *See* Tr. 187, 260–61; GX 201, 201-T. Throughout the course of the defendant's plotting, he consistently emphasized the importance of turning off

² On October 7, 2021, during jury deliberations, the jury sent the Court a note requesting all evidence that the Government had introduced at trial regarding Hamid, which the Court provided to the jury. *See* Tr. 1042–51. This note was the only note that the jury sent the Court during its deliberations.

phones, discussing the plot in person instead of on the phone, and avoiding electronics so that law enforcement could not track him. *See* Tr. 261; GX 253, 253-T.

The defendant also took and instructed Bradley and the CSes to take numerous other steps to avoid government detection, such as acting like "kufar" (like Americans) by purchasing and drinking alcohol, visiting a strip club in Queens, flirting with women, and downloading pornography on their phones. *See* Tr. 270–78, 650–53; GX 286, 286-T, 287, 287-T, 288, 288-T, 313, 313-T, 708, 709 (photographs of strip club). Additionally, the defendant ensured that he, Bradley, and the CSes strategically used credit cards for purchases that he wanted law enforcement to see (such as alcohol at the strip club and a plane ticket for a return flight back to the United States) but stated that they should not use credit cards for purchases that he did not want law enforcement to see or in locations where he did not want law enforcement to track him (such as Pakistan and Afghanistan). *See* Tr. 261, 274–75; GX 223, 223-T. The defendant also changed his appearance to look more "kufar" and less fundamentalist by trimming his beard, styling his hair, and wearing Western clothing. *See* Tr. 67–68, 162–63, 174–75, 302, 658–661; GX 331, 331-T, 338, 338-T; *compare* GX 1 (photograph of defendant from before his arrest) *with* GX 2 (photograph of defendant from day of his arrest).

These steps were designed to disguise the defendant's radical extremism and adherence to terrorist ideology, so that he would not be identified, flagged, and stopped by law enforcement on his way to Afghanistan. The defendant told CS-1 that "leaving this country with a dirty record will guarantee our ability to exit the country safely." Tr. 277. It was a strategy that the defendant believed al-Awlaki had followed to throw law enforcement off his trail, and the defendant sought to emulate the al Qaeda terrorist whom he so admired. *See* GX 288, 288-T. The defendant was

able to reconcile his "kufar" behavior with his fundamentalism, because in his mind, the ends justified the means. The defendant told CS-1 that their "ultimate goal was jihad for the sake of Allah, and Allah [would] understand that [they were] doing that for that purpose." Tr. 274–78.

One of the most significant evasive steps that the defendant took was to buy a plane ticket to Thailand instead of Pakistan. As described above, as early as the first recorded conversation with CS-1 on September 21, 2018, the defendant was aware that flying directly to Afghanistan would arouse suspicion. *See* GX 201, 201-T. The defendant therefore decided to fly directly to Pakistan, and then travel overland across the border from Pakistan into Afghanistan. *See* GX 201, 201-T. The defendant stated, "If we try to buy a ticket to Afghanistan, we might have an issue. They will stop us at the airport or something. But Pakistan, no. You go to Pakistan, right, because you can get to Afghanistan from Pakistan. There's a border you can cross." *See* GX 201, 201-T.

In or about March 2019, however, the defendant determined that his contemplated route from the United States to Pakistan to Afghanistan was not indirect enough to avoid arousing suspicion. As a result, the defendant decided that he would add another layer of remove, and instead of flying directly to Pakistan, he, Bradley, and the CSes would fly directly to Thailand. *See* Tr. 267–68, 588, 747. CS-1 testified that the defendant "always spoke about Thailand as a tour[ist] magnet, and going there was not suspicious." Tr. 268. Similarly, CS-2 testified that the defendant wanted to travel through both Thailand and Pakistan "[s]o the government does not have any eyes on us going straight to Afghanistan." Tr. 588.

According to the defendant's revised plan, they would travel from Thailand to Pakistan one of two ways. If they could get visas to travel from Thailand to Pakistan, they would fly to Pakistan; if they could not get visas, they would fly to Bangladesh, the defendant's country of

origin, then travel overland from Bangladesh to India, and from India overland to Pakistan. *See* GX 288, 288-T. From Pakistan, they would travel overland across the border into Afghanistan, as the defendant had always intended. *See* Tr. 625, 747; GX 201, 201-T.

On March 23, 2019, the defendant bought himself a round-trip ticket from JFK Airport to Bangkok, departing JFK Airport on July 26, 2019, and instructed Bradley and the CSes to do the same. *See* Tr. 96, 125; GX 140 (photograph of defendant's tickets to Bangkok), 501 (email receipt reflecting defendant's purchase of round-trip tickets from JFK Airport to Bangkok). On the same day, the defendant also made a reservation for accommodations near Bangkok. *See* GX 500 (email receipt reflecting defendant's reservation for accommodations near Bangkok).

On April 4, 2019, the defendant's concerns about flying directly to Pakistan were reinforced when he learned that another individual who was attempting to join the Taliban in Afghanistan by flying directly from the United States to Pakistan had been stopped at the airport. *See* Tr. 267–70, 649–50; GX 301, 301-T, 310, 310-T, 314, 314-T. The defendant called an emergency meeting where he shared the news with Bradley and CS-1:

Somebody got arrested.... Some guy trying to do the same thing at the airport.... This guy got arrested, he's 29 years old, he was trying to go to Pakistan, and they arrested him before he can get out. So these things are possible. You can get arrested. You must be very careful. And when I say this, very careful, I mean completely leave your religion in terms of showing it off in any way to anyone. 'Cause your closest person that you think is close could be someone that works for the FBI. This guy... told everything to the FBI because he thought... it was his friend. You see what I'm saying? This is not a joke.... [T]he enemy is very powerful right now. The enemy has eyes and ears everywhere we go. We have to become like the enemy for us to go blend in so well, that they cannot....

GX 301, 301-T.

At the meeting, when Bradley noted that the defendant had never explained "why Thailand," the defendant could not have been clearer in his response: "Oh, why Thailand. Because Thailand is the only place where they're never gonna suspect you're going there for terrorism. . . . From there we go Pakistan. But you can't fly straight to Pakistan. You see they got caught trying to fly to Pakistan." GX 310, 310-T.

Once the defendant had settled on Thailand as the best option to mask his final destination, he took additional steps to make himself look as much as possible like a legitimate tourist. He created online dating profiles and started flirting with women in Thailand; he bought gifts of perfume for those women; and he bought condoms, purportedly to use while having sex with those women, so that if authorities searched his bags at the airport, he would look like an amorous traveler, not a murderous one. *See* Tr. 141–43, 275–78, 484–85, 496–97, 672–78; GX 104, 288, 288-T, 328, 328-T, 329, 329-T, 340, 340-T, 341, 341-T, 509 (screenshots from "Vacation talk" WhatsApp group message thread including defendant and CSes).

The Thai women were also useful to the defendant as part of his plot because a Thai woman could pick up him and the CSes at the airport in Bangkok, *see* GX 329, 329-T, and potentially accompany them on their travel from Thailand to Pakistan, *see* GX 341, 341-T. The defendant explained his view that, if a Thai woman came along, "Our trip will seem more real. . . . Everything will be more natural. We won't get stopped anywhere. There's a woman with us. . . . It will . . . serve my purpose more" GX 341, 341-T. And if, for some reason, the Thai woman was unable to accompany the defendant and the CSes to Pakistan and Afghanistan, the defendant would "leave her behind." GX 339, 339-T.

To facilitate his travel from Thailand to Pakistan and Afghanistan, the defendant also started communicating online with a woman in Bangladesh whom the CSes knew as "Emira." *See* Tr. 289–93, 674–80, 691–93; GX 338, 338-T, 342, 342-T, 343, 343-T. The defendant explained that Emira was "perfect for this job for us," *see* GX 338, 338-T—meaning the "job" of their "mission," which was "going to do jihad," *see* Tr. 291—because she was "smart," did "research," and when the defendant told her to do something, she did it "right away," *see* GX 338, 338-T. The defendant expected Emira to help arrange visas for their travel. *See* Tr. 692–93. He also expected that Emira would contribute money to their "cause," *see* GX 342, 342-T—that is, the cause of going to "Afghanistan" and "attack[ing]," *see* Tr. 292—because she had money and was "from the richest area in Bangladesh," *see* GX 342, 342-T.

By taking these steps in an attempt to conceal his ultimate destination and intentions, the defendant was following a playbook that other foreign fighters have followed to surreptitiously leave the United States and other Western countries to join the Taliban and other terrorist organizations. As Taliban expert Dr. Tricia Bacon testified, foreign fighters like the defendant "do things to disguise their travel and their destination," and "sometimes do things to alter their appearances, so they would appear less suspicious to authorities." *See* Tr. 544–45. For example, "[t]hey might stop at another country that was not necessarily a natural route, or they would have some kind of business-related reason that they said they were traveling." *See* Tr. 545. Indeed, the "typical route" that foreign fighters have followed in recent years when traveling from the United States and other Western countries to Afghanistan is through "[a] third country," and then Pakistan. *See* Tr. 543.

H. Hossain Travels to JFK Airport, Attempts to Board His Flight to Thailand, and Is Arrested

On July 25, 2019, at the defendant's instruction, CS-1 took a taxi to the vicinity of the defendant's residence in the Bronx, where the taxi picked up the defendant and proceeded to a hotel in Queens near JFK Airport. *See* Tr. 301–02. The defendant had previously instructed CS-2 to book a room at the hotel for the defendant and the CSes to stay in the night before their flight to Bangkok, which CS-2 had done. *See* Tr. 687–88; GX 335, 335-T, 710 (photograph of the hotel). At the hotel, the defendant and CS-1 went to the room, where they met with CS-2. *See* Tr. 302. CS-2 was wearing a long white robe. *See* Tr. 302. When the defendant saw what CS-2 was wearing, the defendant reminded CS-2 that he had told him not to wear religious attire while they were traveling. *See* Tr. 302.

The defendant and the CSes had brought to the hotel the supplies that the defendant had ordered and the cold-weather clothing that they had bought to use in Afghanistan, along with several pieces of luggage in which to transport the supplies and clothing. *See* Tr. 688–89. In the room, the defendant repacked the supplies and clothing in the luggage, deciding which items went into which bags. *See* Tr. 688–89. The defendant also asked the CSes if they had the \$10,000 in cash that they were each supposed to bring with them. *See* Tr. 303. The defendant pulled out his own approximately \$10,000 in cash, handed it to CS-2, and instructed CS-2 to count it. *See* Tr. 303. CS-2 counted approximately \$10,400. *See* Tr. 303. Eventually, the defendant and the CSes prayed and went to bed. *See* Tr. 303, 688.

On July 26, 2019, the next morning, the defendant and the CSes left the hotel and traveled to JFK Airport, where they checked the luggage the defendant had packed, went through security,

and proceeded to the gate for their flight to Bangkok. *See* Tr. 30, 689–91. Shortly thereafter, their flight was called, and they started walking down the jet bridge toward the plane. *See* Tr. 304, 694. As they were walking down the jet bridge, the defendant shook hands with CS-1 and stated, "We've made it." *See* Tr. 304. At that point, law enforcement agents posing as fellow passengers arrested the defendant and the CSes on the jet bridge. *See* Tr. 65–68, 304–05, 694. During a search incident to the defendant's arrest, law enforcement found \$10,100 in cash on his person. *See* Tr. 117–18; GX 140, 420, 810.

After the defendant's arrest, and pursuant to a judicially authorized warrant, law enforcement searched the luggage. *See* Tr. 68–70, 98–118. During the search, among other items, law enforcement found the supplies and the clothing. *See* Tr. 68–70, 98–118; GX 100–40 (photographs of items recovered during search of luggage), 407–08, 410–20, 424–35 (physical evidence recovered during search of luggage).

II. Procedural History

On July 26, 2019, the defendant was charged by complaint in this District with one count of attempted provision of material support and resources for terrorism, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339A. *See* Dkt. No. 1. On October 13, 2020, a grand jury sitting in this District returned the Indictment, charging the defendant with one count of attempted provision of material support and resources for terrorism, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339A (Count One), and one count of attempting to make or receive a contribution of funds, goods, and services to the Taliban, in violation of 50 U.S.C. § 1705(a) and 31 C.F.R. §§ 595.204, 595.205, and 594.310 (Count Two). *See* Dkt. No. 55.

Trial on the Indictment began on September 29, 2021. The Government presented an array of witness testimony and other evidence, including recordings of the defendant's meetings with his co-conspirators and the CSes, demonstrating his participation in the plot to join and fight with the Taliban, as described above. On October 8, 2021, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on both counts, and the Court remanded the defendant.

On January 18, 2022, Probation issued the PSR. In the PSR, Probation calculated the defendant's offense level as 51. See PSR ¶ 26. Because an offense level of 51 exceeds the most serious possible offense level, the Guidelines automatically reduce it to level 43. See id. ¶ 29 (citing U.S.S.G. Chapter 5, Part A, Application Note 2 (discussing the "rare cases" in which "a total offense level of . . . more than 43 may result from application of the guidelines"). Probation further determined that, although the defendant has zero criminal history points, his Criminal History Category is VI because his offense involved a federal crime of terrorism. See PSR ¶ 32 (citing U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4(b)).

At offense level 43 and Criminal History Category VI, the Guidelines range would be life imprisonment. *See* PSR 15. Indeed, the Guidelines range would be life imprisonment even if the defendant's Criminal History Category was I instead of VI. *See* U.S.S.G. Sentencing Table. Here, however, the statutory maximum penalty that the Court may impose is 35 years—15 years on Count One, and 20 years on Count Two—so the effective Guidelines range is 420 months' imprisonment. *See* PSR 15. Probation recommends a sentence of 300 months' imprisonment.

DISCUSSION

I. Applicable Law

"[A] district court should begin all sentencing proceedings by correctly calculating the applicable Guidelines range," which "should be the starting point and the initial benchmark." *Gall v. United States*, 552 U.S. 38, 49 (2007). After that calculation, a sentencing judge must consider the seven factors outlined in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a): "the nature and circumstances of the offense and the history and characteristics of the defendant"; the four legitimate purposes of sentencing, as set forth below; "the kinds of sentences available"; the applicable Guidelines range itself; any relevant policy statement by the Sentencing Commission; "the need to avoid unwarranted sentence disparities among defendants"; and "the need to provide restitution to any victims." 18 U.S.C. § 3553 (a)(1)-(7); see Gall, 552 U.S. at 50 & n.6.

In determining the appropriate sentence, the statute directs judges to "impose a sentence sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to comply with the purposes" of sentencing, which are:

- (A) to reflect the seriousness of the offense, to promote respect for the law, and to provide just punishment for the offense;
- (B) to afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct;
- (C) to protect the public from further crimes of the defendant; and
- (D) to provide the defendant with needed educational or vocational training, medical care, or other correctional treatment in the most effective manner.

18 U.S.C. § 3553 (a)(2).

II. Probation Correctly Calculated the Guidelines Range as 420 Months' Imprisonment

As described above, Probation calculated an offense level of 43 and a Criminal History Category of VI, yielding an effective Guidelines range of 420 months' imprisonment. *See* PSR 15. The offense level was driven by Probation's determination that the base offense level for

Count One was 33, "because the object of the intended offense would have constituted first degree murder," PSR \P 20; that a six-level enhancement was appropriate, "because the intended victim was a government employee, and the offense was motivated by such," id. \P 22; and that a 12-level enhancement was appropriate, because "[t]he offense is a felony that involved, or was intended to promote, a federal crime of terrorism," id. \P 23.

Defense counsel claim that Probation's calculations are incorrect for three reasons: first, because "Probation's proposed cross reference to attempted murder to form a base offense level of 33 is wrong," Def.'s Mem. 12–14; second, because Probation incorrectly applied the six-level official-victim enhancement, *see id.* at 14; and third, because Probation incorrectly applied the 12-level terrorism enhancement, *see id.* at 14–16. The Court should reject all three of these arguments because Probation's calculations were clearly correct under the Guidelines.

A. Probation Correctly Calculated the Base Offense Level as 33

Regarding the base offense level for Count One, U.S.S.G. § 2X2.1 applies, pursuant to Appendix A to the Guidelines, to the defendant's violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339A. U.S.S.G. § 2X2.1, in turn, provides that "[t]he offense level is the same level as that for the underlying offense," and Application Note 1 to U.S.S.G. § 2X2.1 explains that, "in the case of a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339A..., 'underlying offense' means the offense the defendant is convicted of having materially supported... prior to or during its commission."

Here, the offense that Hossain was convicted of having attempted to materially support was a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2332, the killing of a national of the United States while such national is outside the United States. Probation determined that the defendant was convicted of having attempted to materially support a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2332(b)(1), attempt with respect

to homicide, and that the applicable guideline was therefore U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1, which provides that, "if the object of the offense would have constituted first degree murder," the base offense level is 33. U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1(a)(1). Probation therefore correctly found that a base offense level of 33 was appropriate.

Defense counsel take issue with this determination. According to defense counsel, "[t]he Government has not proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the material support Mr. Hossain was convicted of attempting to provide is tantamount to attempted first degree murder because it has not proved that Mr. Hossain had the specific intent to kill anyone." Def.'s Mem. 12. This argument is merely a repackaged version of an argument that defense counsel made at the charge conference and in their post-trial motions, which the Court properly rejected both times: that the Government was required to prove that Hossain had the "specific intent or conscious objective to join the Taliban for the purpose of killing United States soldiers." Tr. 854.

As the Court correctly held, this argument is meritless, because it conflates the specific intent required to prove an attempted commission of the charged offense, which is 18 U.S.C. § 2339A, with the specific intent required to prove an attempted commission of the predicate offense, which is 18 U.S.C. § 2332. The Government was required to prove the former, but not the latter. *See* Tr. 875 ("The specific intent under Count One doesn't have to be the specific intent to accomplish the killing of U.S. nationals abroad. [The required] [s]pecific intent is that the defendant provided the support with knowledge it's to be used in carrying out the underlying offense, which is the killing of U.S. nationals abroad."); *see also* Tr. 894–95 (rejecting the defendant's argument that his "specific intent appl[ies] not only to the provision of himself as

personnel for the purpose of carrying out a violation of 2332, but that his conscious objective also be to accomplish a violation of 2332").

Here, once more, defense counsel conflate the requisite *mens rea* for violations of the charged and predicate offenses. U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1(a)(1) and its base offense level of 33 apply not because the defendant attempted to commit a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2332 (*i.e.*, because the defendant had the specific intent to kill U.S. nationals abroad), but because—pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2X2.1—the defendant attempted to commit a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339A with a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2332 as the underlying predicate offense thus triggering U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1 (*i.e.*, because the defendant knew or intended that the material support he attempted to provide to the Taliban would be used in preparation for or in carrying out the Taliban's killing of U.S. nationals abroad). Accordingly, the application of U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1(a)(1) is the ineluctable result of the defendant's conviction on Count One at trial.

It is worth noting that U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1(a)(1) would still apply even if the Court adopted defense counsel's erroneous legal standard (which it should not), because the Government proved at trial by at least a preponderance of the evidence that Hossain had the specific intent to kill U.S. nationals abroad. As described above, the defendant spoke of killing Americans on multiple occasions and laughed as he imagined killing U.S. servicemembers in Afghanistan with AK-47s, pistols, and rocket launchers. *See* Def.'s Mem. 16 (acknowledging that, "[t]aken in a light most favorable to the Government, perhaps one or two of Mr. Hossain's recorded communications with [CS-1 and CS-2] captured him talking about shooting U.S. soldiers"). It is also worth noting that, if U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1(a)(1) and its base offense level of 33 did not apply (which it does), then U.S.S.G. § 2A2.1(a)(2) and its base offense level of 27, only six levels lower, would apply,

yielding a total offense level of 45 instead of 51. Thus, even if defense counsel were correct, the Guidelines range would be unaffected. Regardless, Probation's calculation of the base offense level was correct, and defense counsel's argument is baseless.

B. Probation Correctly Applied the Six-Level Official-Victim Enhancement

Defense counsel also challenge the applicability of a six-level official-victim enhancement, pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3A1.2(b), because the intended victim was a government employee, and the offense was motivated by such. As relevant here, U.S.S.G. § 3A1.2(a) provides that, "[i]f (1) the victim was . . . a government officer or employee . . . ; and (2) the offense of conviction was motivated by such status, increase by 3 levels." U.S.S.G. § 3A1.2(b) provides that, "[i]f subsection (a)(1) and (2) apply, and the applicable Chapter Two guideline is from Chapter Two, Part A (Offenses Against the Person), increase by 6 levels." Application Note 1 to U.S.S.G. § 3A1.2 explains that "[t]his guideline applies when specified individuals are victims of the offense. This guideline does not apply when the only victim is an organization, agency, or the government." Defense counsel argue, cursorily, that "Mr. Hossain only sought to provide support to the Taliban, and he did so with (at best) an amorphous desire to fight the United States Government. He did not intend to harm any specific person. Considering there was no named victim in this case—and not a single person was harmed in the execution of this criminal acts [sic]—this enhancement cannot, and should not, apply." Def.'s Mem. 14.

Defense counsel do not cite any authority in support of their construction of U.S.S.G. § 3A1.2, and their construction has been specifically rejected by at least several courts, including another court in this District. In *United States v. Cromitie*, No. 09 Cr. 558, 2011 WL 2693293 (S.D.N.Y. June 29, 2011), the defendants "intended to kill, injure, or maim federal employees at

the Air National Guard Base solely because those persons worked for the U.S. government." *Id.* at *6 (alterations and internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting *United States v. Polk*, 118 F.3d 286, 298 (5th Cir. 1997) (affirming application of official-victim enhancement in sting case where defendant told confidential source that he wanted to attack IRS service center and prepared accordingly)). The court applied the official-victim enhancement, and explained its decision to do so as follows:

An individual need not be harmed, or even knowledgeable of the crime, to be a victim. Just because federal employees were not actually killed or injured or that the defendants did not know the names of their intended victims does not preclude application of the three-level enhancement. There is no requirement that federal employees be named for the three-level enhancement to apply. Instead, for purposes of this enhancement, [a]ny attempt or conspiracy to cause injury or damage is basically the same crime as actually succeeding in causing the injury or damage.

Cromitie, 2011 WL 2693293, at *6 (alterations, citations, and internal quotation marks omitted).

Here, as the jury found, the defendant attempted to provide material support to the Taliban, knowing or intending that such support would be used in preparation for or in carrying out the Taliban's killing of U.S. nationals abroad. The evidence at trial established that the defendant intended to support the Taliban in its continuing mission to kill U.S. servicemembers and other individuals working for the U.S. government. To take just one example, on September 21, 2018, the very first time that Hossain discussed his plan to join the Taliban with CS-1, he told CS-1 that he would "fight the American government, from there, . . . combined with the Taliban You've got U.S. government . . . The U.S. government, army, is over there

in . . . Afghanistan. . . . We fight them over there. Because then we'll be with the mujahideen " GX 203, 203-T. The official-victim enhancement applies.

C. Probation Correctly Applied the 12-Level Terrorism Enhancement

Regarding the terrorism enhancement, as relevant here, U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4(a) provides that, "[i]f the offense is a felony that involved, or was intended to promote, a federal crime of terrorism, increase by 12 levels." Application Note 1 to U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4 provides that, "[f]or purposes of this guidelines, 'federal crime of terrorism' has the meaning given that term in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5)." Section 2332b(g)(5) defines "federal crime of terrorism" as an offense that "(A) is calculated to influence or affect the conduct of government by intimidation or coercion, or to retaliate against government conduct; and (B) is a violation of" certain enumerated statutes, including 18 U.S.C. § 2339A, the offense of which the defendant was convicted in Count One, and 18 U.S.C. § 2332, the predicate offense for Count One. 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5).

Defense counsel's first argument regarding why the terrorism enhancement does not apply can be rejected out of hand, as it amounts to little more than their expression of their opinion that the enhancement is unduly harsh and "bad anti-terrorism policy." *See* Def.'s Mem. 14–16. The Guidelines apply even if defense counsel disagree with them, and the Second Circuit has repeatedly upheld the application of the enhancement in terrorism cases, as discussed below.

In 1994, Congress mandated that the U.S. Sentencing Commission establish a Guidelines enhancement for terrorism offenses to ensure that defendants convicted of such crimes receive punishment commensurate with the extraordinary nature of their conduct. *See United States v. Mumuni*, 946 F.3d 97, 112 & n.64 (2d Cir. 2019) (citing Violent Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act of 1994, Pub. L. No. 103-322, § 120004, 108 Stat. 1796, 2022). The resulting

enhancement set forth in U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4(a), which not only increases the applicable offense level by 12 but also places defendants in Criminal History Category VI, reflects Congress's intent that defendants convicted of terrorism offenses serve sentences that are appropriate in light of their uniquely dangerous crimes and risk of recidivism:

The import of this enhancement "could not be clearer": It reflects Congress' and the Commission's policy judgment "that an act of terrorism represents a particularly grave threat because of the dangerousness of the crime and the difficulty of deterring and rehabilitating the criminal, and thus that terrorists and their supporters should be incapacitated for a longer period of time."

United States v. Stewart, 590 F.3d 93, 172-73 (2d Cir. 2009) (Walker, J., concurring in part) (quoting United States v. Meskini, 319 F.3d 88, 91-92 (2d Cir. 2003)); accord United States v. Ceasar, 10 F.4th 66, 79 (2d Cir. 2021).

Defense counsel's second argument regarding why the terrorism enhancement does not apply fares no better. As an initial matter, defense counsel misstate the law. Without any supporting citation, they claim that, "[i]n order to sustain the terrorism enhancement, the Government must establish that the defendant had the specific intent to commit an offense that was 'calculated' to impact or retaliate against government conduct." Def's Mem. 16. But in *United States v. Awan*, 607 F.3d 306 (2d Cir. 2010)—a case that defense counsel themselves cite in the same paragraph—the Second Circuit explicitly rejected this formulation.

As the Second Circuit explained, "the disjunctive phrase from U.S.S.G. § 3A1.4"—"[i]f the offense . . . involved, or was intended to promote, a federal crime of terrorism"—"makes clear that the predicate offense must either (1) 'involve' a federal crime of terrorism or (2) be 'intended to promote' a federal crime of terrorism, and that each clause has a separate meaning." *Awan*, 607 F.3d at 313.

Regarding the "involve" clause, "the ordinary meaning of 'involved' is 'to have within or as part of itself,' or to 'include.' . . . Thus, a defendant's offense 'involves' a federal crime of terrorism when his offense includes such a crime, *i.e.*, the defendant committed, attempted, or conspired to commit a federal crime of terrorism as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5), or his relevant conduct includes such a crime." *Id.* at 313–14.

Regarding the "intended to promote" clause, "[t]he ordinary meaning of 'promote' includes 'to bring or help bring into being,' to 'contribute to the growth, enlargement, or prosperity of,' or to 'encourage' or 'further.' . . . [A]n offense is 'intended to promote' a federal crime of terrorism when the offense is intended to help bring about, encourage, or contribute to a federal crime of terrorism as that term is defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5)." Id. at 314 (citations omitted). "[T]his has an important implication: . . . Under the 'intended to promote' prong, . . . so long as the defendant's offense was intended to encourage, further, or bring about a federal crime of terrorism as statutorily defined, the defendant himself does not have to commit an offense listed in § 2332b(g)(5)(B), and the defendant's offense need not itself be 'calculated' as described in § 2332b(g)(5)(A)." Id. Thus, contrary to defense counsel's misstatement of the law, "the application of § 3A1.4 in such circumstances does not require a finding that [a defendant] was personally motivated by a desire to influence or affect the conduct of government. Rather, the government need only demonstrate that [the defendant] intended to promote a crime calculated to have such an effect, i.e., that his offenses were intended to promote a federal crime of terrorism as defined in § 2332b(g)(5), whatever [the defendant's] reason for committing them." Awan, 607 F.3d at 315–16.

Here, the evidence introduced at trial easily satisfies both the "involve" and "intended to promote" clauses by a preponderance of the evidence. Count One "involve[d]" a federal crime of terrorism because Hossain "attempted . . . to commit," *id.* at 313, a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339A, which is listed in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5)(B), and his crime was "calculated to influence or affect the conduct of government by intimidation or coercion, or retaliate against government conduct," as required by 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5)(A). As Hossain discussed with CS-1, CS-2, and Bradley on numerous occasions, the main reason why Hossain wanted to join the Taliban was to fight in their jihad, the primary purpose of which was to intimidate and coerce the U.S. and other coalition governments into withdrawing from Afghanistan, and to retaliate against the U.S. and other coalition governments for invading and occupying Afghanistan.

For example, on September 21, 2018, the first time that Hossain discussed his plan to join the Taliban with CS-1, he told CS-1 that he would "fight the American government, from there, . . . combined with the Taliban You've got U.S. government . . . The U.S. government, army, is over there in . . . Afghanistan. . . . We fight them over there. Because then we'll be with the mujahideen "GX 203, 203-T. On multiple occasions, including during an April 4, 2019 recorded conversation with CS-1, Hossain stated that he wanted "to kill some kufar before [he] die[d]," GX 309, 309-T, by which he meant Americans, *see, e.g.*, Tr. 272–73, 294–95, 481, 536, 602, 647, 650–51. In the WhatsApp group message threads, the YouTube video titled "Behind The Taliban Mask: The Other Side of Afghanistan's Front-line," depicted members of the Taliban carrying assault rifles; using the rifles, rocket launchers, and other heavy weaponry to attack U.S. and coalition forces in Afghanistan; and discussing the many U.S. servicemembers whom the Taliban had killed. *See* Tr. 843–46; GX 538, 1001–02, 1004, 1011.

Further, Dr. Bacon testified that, during the insurgency that started around 2005 and lasted through 2019, the year of the defendant's arrest, the Taliban "would constantly talk about the need to expel [U.S. and coalition forces] as part of a jihad"—that is, their "religious duty to expel foreign forces from Afghanistan." Tr. 536. Influencing, affecting, and retaliating against the United States was the core rationale of that jihad. *See*, *e.g.*, Tr. 535–36 (explaining that "[t]he Taliban developed a sort of hierarchy of targets, and the Coalition Forces were its top target"); Tr. 539 (explaining that, in 2018, "[t]here [were] more indications that the U.S. and the Taliban would engage in negotiations," "[s]o the Taliban was in a situation where it was trying to really gain a military advantage, so it could bring that to the negotiating table" with the United States); Tr. 540 (explaining that, in 2019, "the United States and the Taliban were negotiating," "[a]nd the Taliban was continuing its military offensive").

Additionally, Dr. Bacon testified that the United States contributed the largest number of military servicemembers and resources to the coalition fighting against the insurgency, and that the United States was the coalition's "backbone." *See* Tr. 532–35; 541–42. Dr. Bacon also testified that, by 2019, the Taliban had killed "[a] little over 6,000" Americans in Afghanistan, including U.S. servicemembers. Tr. 538. The Taliban specifically killed U.S. servicemembers in 2018 and 2019. *See* Tr. 539–41. In other words, in 2019, fighting with the Taliban realistically meant fighting against the United States and attempting to kill or killing U.S. servicemembers.

It is also important to keep in mind that, before Hossain settled on traveling to Afghanistan, joining the Taliban, and fighting in their jihad against U.S. and coalition forces, he planned to attack a U.S. military recruiting station in the Bronx. *See* Tr. 174–76, 179–81, 187, 190–98, 536–37, 682; GX 201, 201-T, 202, 202-T, 203, 203-T, 204, 204-T, 336, 336-T, 1014. Hossain told

CS-1 that attacking the recruiting station would be legitimate because of the war against the U.S. government. *See* GX 201, 201-T. Although this plot fortunately never came to fruition because Hossain shifted his focus to Afghanistan and the Taliban, it further highlights the extent to which his goal was always to target U.S. forces in their capacity as representatives of the U.S. government, which he wanted to influence, affect, and retaliate against.

In the alternative, Count One was also "intended to promote" a federal crime of terrorism because Hossain intended "to help bring about, encourage, or contribute to," *Awan*, 607 F.3d at 314, the Taliban's killing of U.S. nationals in Afghanistan, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2332, which is also listed in 18 U.S.C. § 2332b(g)(5)(B). There can be no dispute—and defense counsel do not dispute—that the primary purpose of the Taliban's killing of U.S. servicemembers and other U.S. nationals in Afghanistan was to intimidate and coerce the U.S. Government into withdrawing from Afghanistan, and to retaliate against the U.S. Government for invading and occupying Afghanistan. As discussed above, the trial evidence clearly established that the material support and resources that Hossain attempted to provide to the Taliban were intended "to help bring about" and "contribute to" those killings. At a bare minimum, Hossain intended to "encourage" them.

Lastly, courts have regularly applied the terrorism enhancement in cases involving violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2339A, 2339B, and related offenses, including in similar factual circumstances. *See*, *e.g.*, *United States v. Kaziu*, No. 09 Cr. 660 (JG) (E.D.N.Y.) (applying terrorism enhancement where defendant was convicted of conspiracy to provide material support and resources to Taliban, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339A, among other offenses, after defendant was arrested in Kosovo shortly before planned trip to Pakistan, from which he planned to travel to Afghanistan, join Taliban, and fight in Taliban's jihad against U.S. and coalition forces); *U.S. v.*

Mohammed, No. 06 Cr. 357 (CKK) (D.D.C.) (applying terrorism enhancement where defendant was convicted of narco-terrorism, in violation of 21 U.S.C. § 960a, after defendant trafficked narcotics and provided some of proceeds to Taliban); see also United States v. El Bahnasawy, No. 16 Cr. 376 (RMB) (S.D.N.Y.) (applying terrorism enhancement over defense objection where defendant was convicted of conspiring to carry out a terrorist bombing on behalf of ISIS in New York City); United States v. Alimehmeti, No. 16 Cr. 398 (PAE) (S.D.N.Y.) (applying terrorism enhancement over defense objection where defendant was convicted of attempting to provide material support to ISIS by facilitating travel of ISIS supporter to join ISIS overseas, and specifically rejecting argument that Government had failed to show defendant's conduct was directed at impacting government conduct); United States v. Rahimi, No. 16 Cr. 760 (RMB) (S.D.N.Y.) (applying terrorism enhancement where defendant was convicted of carrying out terrorist bombings in Chelsea neighborhood of Manhattan and New Jersey).

Based on the foregoing, Hossain's commission of Count One both "involved" and was "intended to promote" a federal crime of terrorism. The terrorism enhancement applies.

III. The Sentencing Factors Call for a Guidelines Sentence

A. The Seriousness of the Offenses, Promoting Respect for the Law, and Providing Just Punishment for the Offenses Warrant a Guidelines Sentence

The seriousness of Hossain's offenses, promoting respect for the law, and providing just punishment for the offenses weigh decidedly in favor of a Guidelines sentence. *See* 18 U.S.C §§ 3553(a)(1), 3553(a)(2)(A). Any terrorism offense is inherently serious, but consideration of Hossain's background, the context in which he committed his offenses, and the specific details of those offenses underscore the egregious nature of his conduct and support a Guidelines sentence.

Hossain was born in Bangladesh in 1985. *See* PSR ¶ 37. When he was born, Bangladesh was in the midst of extreme economic hardship and political turmoil that saw the president assassinated in 1981; the new president overthrown in a coup d'état in 1982; a new president installed in 1983; martial law imposed until 1986; and a mass uprising forcing the president's resignation in 1990. When Hossain was 10 years old, he and his family left Bangladesh and moved to the United States, settling on the Lower East Side of Manhattan. *See id.* ¶ 41. Hossain learned English quickly, and by sixth grade, he was winning awards for academic excellence. *See id.* ¶ 37.

In 2005, Hossain began attending Monroe College in the Bronx, from which he graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Criminal Justice in 2009. *See id.* ¶ 54. Hossain reportedly graduated in the top 10 students in his class, with a 3.4 grade point average and academic honors. *See id.* After graduating, he wanted to attend law school, but he put those plans on hold to resume working and providing financial support for his family. *See id.* ¶ 41. Between 2009 and his arrest in 2019, Hossain worked as a taxi and Uber driver in New York City. *See id.* ¶ 41, 44, 57–59.

The picture of Hossain that emerges from the PSR and the Government's investigation is that of an individual who immigrated from a politically unstable country with limited economic opportunities to the United States when he was a boy, and who, through hard work, perseverance, and natural ability, learned English, thrived at college, obtained gainful employment, and hoped to someday attend graduate school and join the professional ranks. Yet despite the opportunities that the United States had afforded him, and that he had taken advantage of, Hossain decided to take up arms against his country and kill his fellow citizens.

This is not a case, for example, in which an immature teenager in a foreign country, with no direct contact with Americans and little life experience, is radicalized on the Internet by a terrorist group peddling lies about the United States and exploiting his naivete or lack of opportunity. At present, the defendant is 36 years old. He was 33 when he committed his offenses. He has been married twice and has three children. He has a college degree. He has been working in a variety of jobs since he was in eighth grade. He knows the United States because he has lived here since he was a child; he knows Americans because he is a citizen himself.

Hossain is smart and sophisticated. That is clear not only from his educational attainment but also from the evidence introduced at trial. He carefully analyzed, parsed, and mulled the extremist propaganda he was consuming, and did not adopt it wholesale and without question. For example, Hossain was meticulous in his appraisal of al-Awlaki and al Qaeda's propaganda, so much so that he became concerned that a lone-wolf attack in the United States inspired by that propaganda might be too doctrinally controversial to guarantee his place and stature as a martyr for his extremist cause. Extensive research and thought, and his resultantly deep understanding of the nuances and subtleties of radical Islamic terrorist ideology, caused him to shift his focus from attacking Americans in the United States to attacking Americans in Afghanistan.

Nor is this a case in which a radicalized individual joins a foreign terrorist organization with the desire to achieve some broader or more abstract goal—for instance, a foreign country's adoption of shariah law or the establishment of a fundamentalist Islamic caliphate in the Middle East—while being aware at some level that the organization may incidentally kill Americans, but not actively planning to kill Americans himself. In Hossain's case, killing Americans was not an unintended consequence of the offense—it was the offense's core purpose. To convict Hossain

on Count One, the jury had to find that Hossain knew or intended that the material support or resources he was attempting to provide to the Taliban would be used in preparation for or in carrying out the killing of Americans abroad.

Despite all of his life experience, intelligence, and sophistication, Hossain chose to turn against his own community and attempt to perpetrate violence against it. Hossain's adoption of radical Islamic terrorist ideology was a clear, careful, and conscious choice, not the inevitable result of "years of personal tumult," as defense counsel seem to suggest. Def.'s Mem. 1. Many people in the United States have difficult marriages, limited resources, and strained relationships with their parents. But the overwhelming majority of those people never even commit petty crimes, much less take substantial steps toward committing terrorism offenses and killing other Americans. Nor do they seek to abandon their families, including their young children, to embrace an odious ideology that at its core teaches hatred for America. And that is exactly what Hossain did here. *Cf.* PSR ¶ 16 (noting that Probation did not "uncover any mitigating circumstances during the presentence investigation," and that Hossain "was apparently reared under decent circumstances").

In *United States v. Raishani*, No. 17 Cr. 421 (RA) (S.D.N.Y.), Judge Ronnie Abrams addressed a similar situation, in which the defendant was a naturalized citizen who had come to the United States as a boy (five years old) from a country with less opportunity (Yemen); the defendant was well-educated (college degree) and in his thirties (32); and the defendant sought to leave his wife and young child behind in the United States to join a foreign terrorist organization abroad (ISIS). Judge Abrams rejected defense counsel's argument that the defendant's college

degree and age were mitigating factors, finding instead that they were aggravating features of his crime, and imposed the statutory maximum penalty for the defendant's material-support offense:

But doesn't [the defendant's college degree] make him more blameworthy rather than less[?] It's different if you have a kid, if you have someone young and impressionable, there are cases with people who have some form of mental illness. But this is not that case, this is someone who is a full-grown adult who made this decision knowingly to radicalize. . . .

He wasn't a kid. He was in his late 20s. He was almost 30. He's 32 now. He had a child, a degree, he's a nurse. This is not a kid. If this was a kid, I could understand the argument. . . .

Unlike in some of the material support cases where, like I referred to earlier that I've reviewed where a defendant was young or had mental health issues, Mr. Raishani is a 32-year-old, naturalized United States citizen, with a college degree, a former job as a nurse, and devoted parents, wife, and a young son. Those are not mitigating factors. Nonetheless, he sought to join a terrorist organization whose mission it is to murder nonbelievers.

Raishani, No. 17 Cr. 241, Dkt. No. 62 (Apr. 2, 2019 Sent. H'r'g Tr. 14–28).

The same is true of Hossain. With his eyes wide open, after careful planning and over an extended period, he made the most momentous decision of his life: to travel to Afghanistan, join the Taliban, and kill Americans. He now seeks to avoid the consequences of that decision by blaming others for what he did. The Court should not countenance that effort.

In their sentencing submission, defense counsel attempt to paint a different picture of Hossain, but it cannot be squared with the actual evidence that was presented at his week-long trial. Defense counsel's characterization of the relationship between Hossain and CS-1 is especially baseless. According to defense counsel, it was CS-1, and not Hossain, who "extolled the virtues of ISIS and Anwar al-Awlaki" and "show[ed] Mr. Hossain ISIS propaganda videos," in response to which Hossain "took it upon himself to show [CS-1] why ISIS and al-Awlaki

represented deviations from the true Islam, which embraced a different conception of jihad and the utility of 'holy war.'" Def.'s Mem. 5–6. Defense counsel claim that "Mr. Hossain saw it as his responsibility to correct [CS-1's] course away from ISIS." *Id.* at 6. In other words, the defendant's submission essentially seeks to blame CS-1 for Hossain's decision to take the path that ultimately led to his arrest, prosecution, and conviction. *See* PSR ¶ 44 (Hossain "believes [CS-1] took advantage of his compromised emotional state").³

This argument is meritless. There is no evidence that supports any aspect of defense counsel's narrative. To the contrary, the overwhelming evidence at trial showed that it was Hossain who approached and befriended CS-1; Hossain who expressed admiration for al-Awlaki, al Qaeda, and the Taliban, and introduced those topics to CS-1; Hossain who researched and shared with CS-1 propaganda promoting radical Islamic terrorist ideology; Hossain who embraced that ideology; Hossain who developed a sophisticated plan to join the Taliban and recruited CS-1 into his plot; and Hossain who took those actions of his own accord, without being pressured by anyone else, least of all CS-1, who Hossain asked to swear an oath of loyalty to him as his leader.

Defense counsel also rehash their contentions about the purported lack of specificity in Hossain's travel plans or direct contact with the Taliban. *See* Def.'s Mem. 1, 6-7. This is a tired argument that the Court rejected at the close of the Government's case; that the jury rejected during

³ There was extensive pretrial litigation regarding whether defense counsel would be permitted to open at trial on entrapment, based on a theory that Hossain was purportedly entrapped primarily by CS-1; the Court ruled that defense counsel were not permitted to open on entrapment, based on the lack of any proffered entrapment evidence; defense counsel nonetheless violated the Court's ruling in their opening; and ultimately, confirming the correctness of that ruling, there was no testimony whatsoever elicited from CS-1 on direct or cross-examination that in any way supported an entrapment defense. *See*, *e.g.*, Tr. 75–79, 945-46.

their deliberations; and that the Court rejected again in denying Hossain's post-trial motions. As described above, even though there was no evidence introduced at trial that Hossain had established contact with the Taliban, there was ample evidence that he had researched the Taliban and learned that perhaps the easiest way of getting connected with them was through pro-Taliban mosques and leaders in Pakistan. He had identified at least one mosque in Pakistan where the imam encouraged individuals to fight in the Taliban's jihad and had watched videos about the mosque on YouTube. He believed that, if he traveled to Pakistan, all he had to do was find that mosque to get connected with the Taliban. Hossain also sent a Facebook message to Hamid, the former Taliban fighter and current Taliban supporter, in an effort to get connected with the Taliban. Even though Hamid did not respond, Hossain planned to find Hamid in Pakistan, where Hamid moved around without security.

Further, Dr. Bacon testified that, for many foreign fighters seeking to join the Taliban, a lack of contact with the Taliban before they arrive in Pakistan is common, and it is not difficult for foreign fighters to get connected with the Taliban in Pakistan after they arrive. *See* Tr. 545–46 (testifying that "[t]here was a lot of recognition that electronic communications would be vulnerable to interception[,] [s]o there was a tendency to avoid that kind of communication until someone arrived in Pakistan"; that the Taliban "were in major cities, they had connections in many mosques, in many madrasas, so they were not hard to find in Pakistan"; and that "[i]t was not particularly difficult" for foreign fighters to get connected with the Taliban in Pakistan).

What is more, by the time Hossain tried to board his flight to Bangkok, he had a sophisticated primary plan to get to Afghanistan, as well as at least two contingency plans that he was actively exploring, all of which were designed to evade detection by law enforcement. Thus,

by the time the defendant walked down the jet bridge to his flight, his plans for traveling to Afghanistan and joining the Taliban were quite developed and consistent with those of other foreign fighters who succeeded in joining terrorist groups to fight and kill. Had law enforcement not gained access to Hossain and thwarted him, there is every reason to believe he would have succeeded in executing his carefully crafted plot to join the Taliban and to help that group murder U.S. servicemembers.

In sum, Hossain's offenses were abhorrent and extremely serious. Over the course of many months, he engaged in a sophisticated plot to join the Taliban's jihad and kill Americans, and it was a stroke of good luck—that Hossain approached someone who was, unbeknownst to him, a source for the FBI—that likely saved American lives. A Guidelines sentence would reflect the seriousness of a U.S. citizen taking up arms against his country and trying to kill his fellow citizens; it would promote respect for the law; and it would be just.

B. Affording Adequate Deterrence to Criminal Conduct and Protecting the Public from Further Crimes of Hossain Warrant a Guidelines Sentence

Affording adequate deterrence to criminal conduct and protecting the public from further crimes of Hossain further weigh in favor of a Guidelines sentence. *See* 18 U.S.C §§ 3553(a)(1), 3553(a)(3)(B)–(C). "General deterrence is essential here so that the severe consequences of choosing terrorism are apparent to all who might consider it." *United States v. Babafemi*, No. 13 Cr. 109, 2021 WL 1210313, at *6 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2021). As Judge Walker has observed, "[i]n

no area can the need for adequate deterrence be greater than in terrorism cases, with their potential for devastating loss of innocent life." *Stewart*, 590 F.3d at 181 (Walker, J., concurring in part).

The capacity of radical terrorist organizations to thrive hinges in significant part on their ability to grow their membership—to attract, indoctrinate, and enlist new followers, like Hossain, who are committed to advancing and serving the group's murderous agenda or dying in the attempt. Deterring such conduct is particularly important in today's environment, when many individuals in the West, including in the United States, have become radicalized by jihadist propaganda and have either traveled or tried to travel to the Middle East and Asia to join such groups. It is vital for our country's national security that other young men and women who reside in the United States, when exposed to hateful extremist teaching, be deterred from choosing to follow a path similar to Hossain's and engaging in potentially devastating conduct in support of such groups. It is important for those contemplating joining a terrorist organization to know that the consequences for such conduct are serious. And it is important for the public to know that those who seek to join and support terrorist organizations—and to kill U.S. servicemembers—will face serious punishment preventing them from causing harm to society. A Guidelines sentence is appropriate to serve the pressing need for general deterrence of such terrorism offenses.

Regarding specific deterrence and incapacitation, they are paramount considerations here. As the Second Circuit has held, terrorism crimes carry high recidivism rates and the rehabilitation of the defendants who commit them is notoriously difficult. *See Meskini*, 319 F.3d at 91-92 (noting the link between "the difficulty of deterring and rehabilitating" terrorism defendants and the conclusion that "terrorists and their supporters should be incapacitated for a longer period of time"); *accord Mumuni*, 946 F.3d at 113. Hossain's longstanding adherence to the radical Islamic

terrorist ideology of first al Qaeda and later the Taliban, his willingness to leave his wife and children behind to take up arms against his country and kill his fellow citizens, and his aspiration to commit the ultimate sacrifice, to martyr himself for the Taliban and its jihad, all support the conclusion that he is a deeply radicalized extremist, and that the deterrence of Hossain must be powerful and his incapacitation lengthy.

Further underscoring the need for specific deterrence and incapacitation is Hossain's continuing complete failure to accept responsibility for his actions. Notably absent from defense counsel's sentencing submission and the PSR is any expression of remorse by Hossain. The closest that he could muster was his admission that he and CS-1 "talked about things we shouldn't," which was immediately followed by his claim that CS-1 "took advantage of his compromised emotional state." PSR ¶44. The persistent theme from Hossain and defense counsel, which is insupportable and borders on offensive in light of the overwhelming evidence at trial, is that he was the real victim, not the U.S. servicemembers he plotted to kill or the other individuals he may have helped to radicalize, because he was manipulated by the Government and convicted of a crime he did not commit. See id. at 16 ("There was no discussion with Hossain about the case because he went to trial and asserts his innocence."). Based on Hossain's total unwillingness to reckon with his conduct, and his demonstrated radicalization and devotion to extremist ideology, there is every reason to believe that, once released, he will seek to resume his support for the Taliban or another foreign terrorist group that espouses the same sort of radical terrorist ideology. Moreover, at 36, Hossain is a relatively young man, and will still be capable of resuming his support for terrorism even after a lengthy term of imprisonment. The need to deter and prevent him from doing so for as long as possible cuts in favor of a Guidelines sentence.

C. A Guidelines Sentence Would Not Result in Unwarranted Sentencing Disparities

Throughout the United States, terrorism defendants who have attempted to travel, successfully traveled, or assisted other individuals in traveling to join foreign terrorist groups have received substantial sentences, often the maximum term allowed by statute. A Guidelines sentence in this case is consistent with the sentencing consideration of avoiding unwarranted disparities.

For example, in *Raishani*, discussed above, *see supra* at 39, the defendant pleaded guilty to one count of attempting and one count of conspiring to provide material support to ISIS, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2339B and 371. Raishani had attempted to leave the United States to join ISIS but had been stopped by law enforcement before he was able to do so. Raishani's Guidelines range was 300 months' imprisonment, the statutory maximum. Judge Abrams sentenced him to concurrent sentences of 240 and 60 months' imprisonment, the statutory maximum penalty on each count.

Similarly, in *United States v. Alimehmeti*, No. 16 Cr. 398 (PAE) (S.D.N.Y.), defendant Sajmir Alimehmeti pleaded guilty to one count of providing and attempting to provide material support to ISIS, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 2339B and 2, and one count of making a false statement in a passport application to facilitate an act of international terrorism, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1542. Alimehmeti's Guidelines range was 360 to 540 months' imprisonment, the statutory maximum. Judge Paul A. Engelmayer sentenced him to concurrent sentences of 240 and 264 months' imprisonment.

In *United States v. Farhane, et al.*, No. 05 Cr. 673 (LAP) (S.D.N.Y.), defendant Rafiq Sabir was convicted, following a jury trial, of one count of attempting and one count of conspiring to provide material support to al Qaeda. Sabir's Guidelines range was 360 months' imprisonment,

the statutory maximum. At sentencing, Sabir requested a sentence of only 60 months' imprisonment, claiming that he had been ensuared by a government sting operation. Judge Loretta A. Preska sentenced Sabir to 300 months' imprisonment.

Raishani, Alimehmeti, and Farhane are but several examples. Courts have routinely imposed sentences at or near the statutory maximum in numerous other cases involving defendants convicted of providing or attempting to provide material support for terrorism, by either attempting to travel or facilitating the travel of others to join a foreign terrorist group. See, e.g., United States v. Zea, No. 13 Cr. 72 (SJF) (E.D.N.Y.) (defendant sentenced to statutory maximum of 15 years' imprisonment for attempting to travel to Yemen to join al Qaeda in the Arabian Peninsula); *United* States v. Pugh, No. 15 Cr. 116 (NGG) (E.D.N.Y.) (defendant sentenced to statutory maximum of 15 years' imprisonment for attempting to travel to Syria to join ISIS); *United States v. Alaa Sadeh*, No. 15 Cr. 558 (SDW) (D.N.J.) (defendant sentenced to statutory maximum of 15 years' imprisonment for assisting another individual to travel to join ISIS overseas); United States v. Clark, No. 20 Cr. 76 (NRB) (S.D.N.Y.) (defendant sentenced to statutory maximum of 20 years' imprisonment for disseminating large quantities of pro-ISIS propaganda and terrorist-attack training manuals in online chatrooms, participating and administering chatrooms, and exhorting other participants in chatrooms to commit "lone wolf" attacks in United States); see also United States v. Kourani, 6 F. 4th 345, 357–59 (2d Cir. 2021) (affirming district court's sentence of 40 years' imprisonment for defendant's conviction of various offenses, including providing and conspiring to provide material support to Hizballah, in part because sentence "simply reflects Congress' judgment as to the appropriate national policy for such crimes" (alterations and internal quotation marks omitted)).

In many of the foregoing cases, the defendants were convicted of only material-support offenses. Here, however, Hossain was also convicted of an IEEPA violation, an extremely serious offense in its own right that is designed to further distinct policy objectives. Hossain's sentence should reflect the fact that he was convicted of both Count One and Count Two.

Defense counsel's request for a sentence of no more than 72 months' imprisonment is completely out of line with the cases cited above and utterly fails to account for the gravity of Hossain's offenses. In this regard, a recent decision from the Second Circuit is instructive. In *United States v. Ceasar*, 10 F.4th 66 (2d Cir. 2021), the defendant "expressed her support for ISIS, encouraged others to join ISIS abroad, and helped individuals in the United States contact ISIS members overseas," who "then facilitated U.S.-based ISIS supporters' travel to ISIS-controlled territory." *Id.* at 68. The defendant "herself intended to travel to ISIS territory by way of Sweden, where she planned to marry another ISIS supporter." *Id.* Like Hossain, however, the defendant was stopped by law enforcement at JFK Airport before she could achieve her goal. *See id.* The defendant ultimately pleaded guilty to one count of conspiring to provide material support to a foreign terrorist organization, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339B, and one count of obstruction of justice, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1512(c)(1). *See id.* The defendant's Guidelines range was 360 to 600 months' imprisonment. *See id.* at 69. The court imposed a sentence of just 48 months' imprisonment, approximately 13% of the bottom of the Guidelines range. *See id.*

On appeal, the Second Circuit vacated the sentence and remanded for resentencing. *See id.* at 70. The court's decision was based on several grounds, one of which was that, "in comparison with sentences for similar terrorism crimes, [the defendant's] sentence of 48 months' imprisonment was shockingly low and unsupportable as a matter of law." *See id.* In reaching that

determination, the Second Circuit analogized to two other cases in which it had vacated a sentence and remanded for resentencing based on substantive unreasonableness: *United States v. Stewart*, 590 F.3d 93 (2d Cir. 2009), in which the defendant had a Guidelines range of 360 months' imprisonment, but was sentenced to only 28 months' imprisonment; and *Mumuni*, 946 F.3d at 97, in which the defendant had a Guidelines range of 85 years' imprisonment, but was sentenced to only 17 years' imprisonment. *See Ceasar*, 10 F.4th at 80–82.

Additionally, the court surveyed "the sentences imposed in a handful of recent material support cases," which "illustrate[d] the unwarranted disparity reflected by the 48-month sentence imposed" by the district court. See Ceasar, 10 F.4th at 84. Specifically, the court cited United States v. Naji, No. 16 Cr. 653 (FB) (E.D.N.Y.), in which the defendant pleaded guilty to one count of attempting to provide material support to ISIS, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339B, based on his posting of violent, pro-ISIS content on social media and his travel to Yemen to join ISIS, and was sentenced to the statutory maximum of 240 months' imprisonment. See Ceasar, 10 F.4th at 84-85. The court also cited *United States v. Saidakhmetov*, No. 15 Cr. 95, 2018 WL 461516 (WFK) (E.D.N.Y.), in which the defendants each pleaded guilty to one count of conspiring to provide material support to ISIS, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2339B, after one defendant was arrested at JFK Airport while attempting to travel to ISIS-controlled territory through Turkey, and the other defendant was arrested at his apartment shortly before embarking on similar travel. See Ceasar, 10 F.4th at 85. The defendants were each sentenced to the statutory maximum of 180 months' imprisonment. These are yet two more cases that, along with the reasoning in Ceasar, support the imposition of the applicable Guidelines sentence, at the statutory maximum, in this terrorism case.

D. Defense Counsel's Remaining Arguments Do Not Establish Mitigation

Lastly, the Government addresses defense counsel's remaining arguments, which do not establish meaningful mitigation supporting a variance, especially in light of all the other sentencing considerations discussed above. First, the report from Dr. Edward Fernandez that defense counsel attached to their sentencing submission cannot bear the weight that defense counsel place on it. Defense counsel argues that "Dr. Fernandez's conclusions are critical to fully understanding Mr. Hossain's mental state *at the time of the charged events*." Def.'s Mem. 11 (emphasis supplied). But Dr. Fernandez's report was based on two interviews of Hossain that he conducted in February 2022, just a few weeks ago—that is, almost *four years* after Hossain first approached CS-1, and more than *two-and-a-half years* after the defendant was arrested.

Further, the conclusions in the report are deserving of little if any weight given their highly
conditional nature.
Such statements, largely amounting to speculation and coming years after the offense
conduct, hardly supply a basis for leniency at sentencing in light of Hossain's crimes.

It is also important to keep in mind that all of the information on which Dr. Fernandez based his report came from Hossain or defense counsel. The flawed factual premise on which Dr. Fernandez's report rests is exemplified by his comment about Hossain being provided "with extremist beliefs from individuals of whom he sought a sense of connectedness," which is an apparent reference to Hossain and defense counsel's untenable claim that CS-1 pushed extremism on Hossain and not the other way around. Notably, Dr. Fernandez acknowledges that "the veracity of [Hossain's] statements," which almost wholly underpin his report, "remains largely unknown." *Id.* at 8.

But Hossain did not make a single or even a series of poor decisions over a short period of time. To the contrary, over more than 10 months, he carefully and methodically planned the best way to kill Americans. For example, he painstakingly saved \$10,000 in small increments for weapons, *see* Tr. 117–18, 264–67, 823–26; GX 140, 209, 209-T, 217, 217-T, 222, 222-T, 534, 702 908; stockpiled mountain survival gear from multiple vendors, *see* Tr. 278–89, 317–29, 610–11, 618–21, 630–36; GX 141, 279, 279-T, 280, 280-T, 299, 299-T, 322, 322-T, 401, 402, 503, 902, 1013; and went to the gym every other day to prepare his body for jihad, *see* GX 202, 202-T. In

light of this and other evidence, the explanation that defense counsel proffer for Hossain's repugnant behavior is no explanation at all.

Finally, the Government addresses defense counsel's argument that Probation's recommendation of a sentence of 300 months' imprisonment "neglects Mr. Hossain's perfect compliance with strict home incarceration for the nearly 16 months he was on pre-trial release." Def.'s Mem. 1; *see also id.* at 9 ("For nearly 16 months, Mr. Hossain was on bail without a single infraction. . . . At no point was Mr. Hossain in violation of his release conditions").

The argument is meritless. As a legal matter, the Second Circuit has held that "no substantially mitigating weight can be borne . . . by the fact that [a defendant] did what was plainly required of him—that is, behaving himself in prison. . . . [H]is compliance with institutional regulations has no bearing on the sentencing factors a district court must consider under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a)." *Mumuni*, 946 F.3d at 112. The same is true of Hossain's compliance with his bail conditions. The fact that he did not commit more crimes or violate court orders while waiting to be convicted of terrorism and sanctions offenses at trial does not suggest that he should receive a reduced sentence for the crimes that he actually did commit.

Additionally, as a factual matter, Hossain's compliance with his bail conditions is undermined by his recent conduct in prison. On January 19, 2022, Hossain incurred a major violation for conduct that disrupts or interferes with the security or orderly running of the correctional facility and a minor violation for refusing to obey an order of staff, when Hossain was combative with prison staff and even spit at corrections officers.⁴ Unsurprisingly, Hossain fails to

⁴ The reports of the incident are attached hereto as Exhibit A.

accept responsibility in his submission for the incident and attempts to blame others, just as he did

for the gravely serious crimes of which a jury convicted him. Those crimes, and the array of

sentencing factors discussed above, support a Guidelines sentence, and neither Dr. Fernandez's

report nor Hossain's behavior while on pretrial release do anything to change that.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Government respectfully submits that the Court should

sentence Hossain to a Guidelines sentence of 420 months' imprisonment, which would be

sufficient but not greater than necessary to comply with the purposes of sentencing pursuant to 18

U.S.C. § 3553(a).

Dated: New York, New York

March 7, 2022

Respectfully submitted,

DAMIAN WILLIAMS

United States Attorney for the

Southern District of New York

By:

Benjamin Woodside Schrier

Assistant United States Attorney

(212) 637-1062

53

EXHIBIT A

Essex County Department Of Corrections

Incident Report Critical Data Sheet All incident reports must have a <u>critical data sheet</u> and an <u>incident report</u> summary.

01/19/2022

IR# 573-22

20-22 UOF#

Date:

THIS ENTIRE SHEET TO BE COMPLETED BY THE

SUPERV			ALL THAT APPLY
Location: 2D3 Tin	ne: 1008 Code: Y	If not listed below, reason / 🖾 N for Incident Report:	Major Violation/PHD
Parties Involved			
	And the second section of the second section is	HE SECTION (1985) - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 -	vilian Staff Visitor Other
Inmate/Detainee Name SDNY Hossain	ı, Delowar	Inmate/Detainee Commitment/Alie	n #217008493/USM#87049-054
Medical			
Urgent Emergent/Med Emergency		☐ Attempted Suicide by Ingestion	☐ Attempted Suicide Other
Offender Medical Referral as a Res	sult of Injuries Sustained	☐ Attempted Suicide by Hanging	Death, Cause Unknown
Offender Medical Referral as a Res	sult of Use of Force	☐ Attempted Suicide by Slashing	☑ Other ☐ N/A
Incident			
■ *Fight	Sexual Assault	☐ Bomb Threat	☐ Transportation Emergency
Major Discipline/PHD	Sex Assault with Wea	apon Adverse Weather	Staff Work Stoppage/ Job Action
Minor Discipline	Area Lockdown	☐ Hunger Strike	☐ Smoke Condition
Cell Extraction	☐ Emergency Facility L	ockdown Natural Disasters	☐ Fire
Forced Psychotropic Med	ICE Lockdown	☐ Civil Disturbance	Riot
**Physical Assault	Escape	Arrest	Environmental Hazard
**Physical Assault with Weapon	Attempted Escape	Hostage	Homicide
☐ Aggravated Assault on LEO	☐ Evacuation	Passive Resistance	Other N/A
*Fight: Simple assault entered in	to by mutual consent.		
**Assault: 1. Attempts to cause or pu	irposely, knowingly or rec	klessly causes bodily injury to another	er; or
Attempts by physical n	nenace to put another in fer	ar of imminent serious bodily injury.	
Use of Force (Refer to UOF report)	1		
		Deadly Force Video Record	:□ Y/ ⊠N □ Photos:□ Y/ □N
Restraints		(A)	
☐ Handcuffs ☐ Flex Cuffs	Leg Irons	☐ Wrist Irons w/ Belly Chain	Other N/A
Search			
☐ Facility Search ☐ Contraband	Perimeter Inspe		The state of the s
		(Refer to Strip/Body Cavity	y Search Report) N/A
Protective Custody (Refer to PC 1	orm)		
☐ Voluntary	☐ Involuntary	y [Other N/A
Training			
☐ Code ☐ Use of Force	Medical [☐ Incident ☐ Disturbance	☐ Fire Drill ☐ Other ☐ N/A
Other			
☐ Evidence ☐ Dmg/Lost Keys	☐ Dmg/Lost Tools	☐ Transfer ☐ Work Order	Other N/A
_ bing 200 iteys		_ none of the	Cloud May
Reporting Print/Sig	gn/ID#	Appro	ving Print/Sign/ID#
Approving Print/Sign/ID#	(If Applicable)	Shift Com	mander Print/Sign/ID#

ECDOC

All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident summary. In preparing this report clearly state who, what, when and where. Do not forward report without Supervisor Signature.

Date# 01/19/2022

IR# 573-22 UOF# 20-22

Incident Report Summary

On Wednesday January 19, 2022 I, Sergeant	was assigned as Special Housing Unit
Supervisor. At approximately 1008 hours I was contacted	by Master Control via radio transmission to
immediately report to Building Two Level Three Unit D (2D3). I responded to the unit and saw USM SDNY
Federal Inmate Hossain, Delowar 217008493/USM#8704	9-054 cell 318-01 sitting on the floor in mechanical
restraints on tier 317-324. Building Lieutenant	Officer Officer
Officer Officer and Officer	were present as well. Inmate
Hossain was placed in the tier shower where he received h	is initial Post Exposure Clean-Up due to Oleoresin
Capsicum exposure. I was informed by Officer	assigned to 2D3 sub-control that Inmate Hossain
became combative with officers after they attempted to see	cure him in his cell for medication distribution to be
conducted. To gain compliance, Officer deployed	d one, two second burst to Inmate Hossain's facial
area (See UOF IR#20-22 for further details). A suited tear	m consisting of the following officers was deployed
per Lieutenant and arrived to 2D3 at 1030 hours	: Officer
Officer and Office	. Inmate Hossain was removed from
the unit and escorted to Main Medical for Special Housing	Unit Placement and Post Exposure Clean-Up. While
escorting Inmate Hossain, he dropped his body to the grou	nd and had to be carried by the suited team. At this
time, Inmate Hossain began spitting in the Officers' direct	ion. Upon arrival to Main Medical at 1037 hours, a
spit mask was placed over Inmate Hossain's head to protect	et myself and suited team members from being
exposed to bodily fluids. Inmate Hossain was evaluated by	y Doctor and an Ativan injection was
administered. Inmate Hossain was cleared and escorted ba	ack to 2D3, being carried by the suited team, where he
was strip searched and secured without further incident at	1057 hours.
Due to his actions, Inmate Hossain is charged with the	ne following Major Violation: .306 Conduct which

Due to his actions, Inmate Hossain is charged with the following Major Violation: .306 Conduct which disrupts or interferes with the security or orderly running of the correctional facility and Minor Violation .256 Refusing to obey an order of any staff member (Upgraded). Inmate Hossain is currently Forensic Level Two status will remain in his current housing location on Pre Hearing Detention status. None of the Officers involved have any injuries to report at this time. END OF REPORT

Reporting Print/Sign/ID#

Approving Print/Sign/ID#



COUNTY OF ESSEX DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

To:	Office of the Warden	Dat	e: 01/19/22
From:	Sergeant	IR#	573-22/20-22
Re:	Inmate SDNY Hossain, Delowa	r Boo	king# J217008493
Charges:	.306 Conduct which disrupts or interferes .256 Refusing toobey an order of any stat	with the security or orderly running frember (Upgraded)	of the correctional facility
Sir:			
The above	named inmate charged with the liste	ed infraction(s) is believed to	be
At	hreat to other inmates		
✓ At	hreat to staff members		
At	hreat to himself/herself: or		
✓ Atl	nreat to the orderly running of the fa	cility	
Therefore s	said inmate is being placed in Pre-He	earing detention pending you	r review
		01/19/22	(507
Shift Su	pervisor Signature & ID#	Date	Time
Return	to previous status	Continue Pre-Hearin	g Detention
		1/19/2	1015
Warden	or Designee	Date	Time

Esse	x County Depar	tment_of&orzections	cument 188	-1 Files 956	ustody SHU	Placement Order
	Close Custody SHU	Location From: 213 - 318				1-19-22
Inmat	te/ICE Detaince: <u>He</u>	7554ir, Delavay Mohama	red Loc:	203-398 9	C# 2170089	193 A# Na
I he at		ICE Detainee is to be admik to him/herself or the second			gation for the	ionowing reason(s).
=					thin Ordon)	
⊔В		al observation (medical state		nent and sign	illis Order).	
ПС		nsfer or release within 24 l				
\Box D	Inmate/ICE Det	tainee is being placed into	Involuntary 1	Protective Cus	tody	
	Ex-law enfo	nforcement agencies. orcement official. I Official (Warden, Custod	y Command	er, S.I.D./I.A.I	3.)	
$\square E$	Inmate/ICE De	tainee has requested admis	sion for Volu	ıntary Protecti	ve Custody.	
		ily Harm from other inmat nt in building.	es/ICE Detai	nees.		
⊠F	Detention:	tention Status- Reason for	ots or in		ith the s	The second second second second second
5.1	PRE HEARING	F THE ABOVE CHARGES' DETENTION STATUS				ED HOUSING UNIT- IN
□G	Disciplinary De	etention (as ordered by the	Disciplinary	Hearing Office	er)	
ДH	UNIT- IN DISCI Medical Cleara	OF THE ADJUDICATED CHAPLINARY DETENTION STA Ince: No medical, mental happens be completed by me	TUS ON THI	ABOVE SANC al contradiction	CTION. ns exist for pla	
Notes:						
Mental (When	Health Applicable)					20.5
Print:	-		Sign:			_ Date: 1/19/2 2
Medica	l Print:	MEDICAL MUST COMP	Sign Sign	ENTRIES TO THE	CHIT	_ Date:////
Super Admit SHU	tting into	ADMITTING SUPERVIS	Sign:			Date: 01/19/22
Shift (Commander					lish Time: Jsv2
Print:		-	Sign:	9	Date: [/	Time://
A cop	y of this order must be Detainee within 24 bo	served to the inmate/ICE ours of placement.	Pep	Inmate / ICI	Detainee Sign fo	or Copy
Ralas	sed From				A 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 10	
SHU		Sign:			Date:	Time:

Essex County Department of Corrections Strip/Body Cavity Search Report

All Strip/Body Cavity Search Reports must have a complete Incident Report

Date: 01/19/2022 IR# 573-22

Sign

Strip search of a person lawfully confined in an adult county correctional facility Body cavity search of a person detained/arrested for commission of an offense other than a crime Body cavity search of an inmate lawfully confined in an adult county correctional facility Reason for search: Contact Visit Reasonable suspicion of controlled dangerous substance(s) Reasonable suspicion of controlled dangerous substance(s) Reasonable suspicion of contraband contraban								UOF# 20-22	
Type: Strip search of a person detained/arrested for commission of an offense other than a crime Strip search of a person detained/arrested for commission of an offense other than a crime Body cavity search of a person detained/arrested for commission of an offense other than a crime Body cavity search of a person detained/arrested for commission of an offense other than a crime Body cavity search of an inmate lawfully confined in an adult county correctional facility Reason for search:	Reporting Officer	: Officer				Authorizing	Supervisor: Serge	eant	
Strip search of a person lawfully confined in an adult country correctional facility Body cavity search of a person detained/arrested for commission of an offense other than a crime Body cavity search of an immate lawfully confined in an adult country correctional facility Body cavity search of an immate lawfully confined in an adult country correctional facility Body cavity search of an immate lawfully confined in an adult country correctional facility Body cavity search of an immate lawfully confined in an adult country correctional facility Body cavity search of an immate lawfully confined in an adult country correctional facility Body cavity search of an immate lawfully confined in an adult country correctional facility Body cavity search Body Cavity S	Inmate/ICE Detail	nee Name:	Hossain, Delo	war		C#	217008493	A# <u>n/a</u>	
Entry into the Close Custody SHU Reasonable suspicion of a weapon Reasonable suspicion of contraband A search warrant or valid documented consent Entry into the facility after inmate/ICE Detainee was permitted to leave the facility for any reason Name(s) & ID# of custody staff member(s) conducting search: Officer Garcia #3392 Name(s) & ID# of custody staff member(s) present during the search and reason for presence: Safety/Security Observation Sergeant O. Smith #2931 Facts Indicating Reasonable Suspicion/Probable Cause: Inmate Hossain attempted to assault multiple Officers and a strip search was conducted to ensure Inmate had no weapons and/or contraband to harm himself or staff. No contraband recovered Emergent Conditions requiring the presence of a custody staff member of the opposite sex when such conditions exist: n/a If Body Cavity Search: Search conducted in medically dignified manner: yes no Medical personnel who conducted the search: If applicable, Reason for Use of Force: n/a Medical personnel who conducted the search: If applicable, Reason for Isolation: A Reasons for Scizure of Contraband I. Not authorized for retention/reccipt S. Exceeds reasonable safety, security, sanitary or space considerations S. Exceeds reasonable safety, security, sanitary or space considerations S. Exceeds reasonable safety, security, sanitary or space considerations S. Altered from original form Reason Dispo. Name of Item Reason Dispo. Name of Item Reason Dispo. Reason Dispo. Reason Dispo. Reason Dispo. Reason Dispo.	⊠ Strip □ Body	search of a p	erson lawfully co	nfined in an ined/arrested	adult cour d for comn	ity correctiona dission of an o	l facility ffense other than a cr	ime	
Name(s) & ID# of custody staff member(s) present during the search and reason for presence: Safety/Security Observation Sergeant O. Smith #2931 Facts Indicating Reasonable Suspicion/Probable Cause: Inmate Hossain attempted to assault multiple Officers and a strip search was conducted to ensure Inmate had no weapons and/or contraband to harm himself or staff. No contraband recovered Emergent Conditions requiring the presence of a custody staff member of the opposite sex when such conditions exist: n/a If Body Cavity Search: Search conducted in medically dignified manner: yes no Medical personnel who conducted the search: n/a If applicable, Reason for Use of Force: n/a Medical personnel who conducted the search: n/a If applicable, Reason for Isolation: n/a Reasons for Seizure of Contraband 1. Not authorized for retention/receipt 2. Exceeds stated correctional facility limits 3. Altered from original form Disposition of item seized: 1. Properly Disposed 2. Evidence 3. Placed in property 4. Questionable Ownership Name of Item Reason Dispo Name of Item Reason Dispo Name of Item Reason Dispo	Reason for search:	Entry i	nto the Close Cus able suspicion of	contraband	CE Detaine	Reason A searc	able suspicion of a w h warrant or valid do	reapon ocumented consent	ce(s)
Facts Indicating Reasonable Suspicion/Probable Cause: Inmate Hossain attempted to assault multiple Officers and a strip search was conducted to ensure Inmate had no weapons and/or contraband to harm himself or staff. No contraband recovered Emergent Conditions requiring the presence of a custody staff member of the opposite sex when such conditions exist: n/a If Body Cavity Search: Search conducted in medically dignified manner: yes \[\] no \[\] If applicable, Reason for Use of Force: n/a Medical personnel who conducted the search: n/a If applicable, Reason for Isolation: n/a Reasons for Scizure of Contraband 1. Not authorized for retention/receipt	Name(s) & ID# of	custody staff	member(s) condu	cting search	Officer C	iarcia #3392			
Emergent Conditions requiring the presence of a custody staff member of the opposite sex when such conditions exist: n/a If Body Cavity Search: Search conducted in medically dignified manner: yes no If applicable, Reason for Use of Force: n/a Medical personnel who conducted the search: n/a If applicable, Reason for Isolation: n/a Reasons for Scizure of Contraband 1. Not authorized for retention/receipt 2. Exceeds stated correctional facility limits 3. Altered from original form Disposition of item seized: 1. Properly Disposed Reason Dispo. Name of Item Reason Dispo Name of Item Reason Dispo Name of Item Reason Dispo	Name(s) & ID# of o Sergeant O. Smith	custody staff #2931	member(s) preser	nt during the	search and	l reason for pr	esence: Safety/Sco	curity Observation	110
If Body Cavity Search: Search conducted in medically dignified manner; yes no If applicable, Reason for Use of Force:n/a Medical personnel who conducted the search:	to ensure Inmate ha	d no weapon	s and/or contraba	nd to harm h	imself or s	staff. No contra	aband recovered		conducted
Medical personnel who conducted the search: n/a If applicable, Reason for Isolation: n/a Reasons for Scizure of Contraband 1. Not authorized for retention/receipt	Emergent Condition	ns requiring t	he presence of a	custody staff	member o	f the opposite	sex when such condi	tions exist: n/a	
Reasons for Seizure of Contraband 1. Not authorized for retention/receipt 2. Exceeds stated correctional facility limits 3. Altered from original form Disposition of item seized: Reason Dispo Name of Item Reason Dispo				nedically dig	nified man	ner: yes 🔲 n	o 🗆		
Reasons for Scizure of Contraband 1. Not authorized for retention/receipt 2. Exceeds stated correctional facility limits 3. Altered from original form 5. Exceeds reasonable safety, security, sanitary or space considerations 6. May be harmful and/or poses threat to security or orderly operations of facility Disposition of item seized: 1. Properly Disposed 2. Evidence 3. Placed in property 4. Questionable Ownership Name of Item Reason Dispo Name of Item Reason Dispo	Medical personnel	who conduct	ed the search: _n	/a					
1. Not authorized for retention/receipt 2. Exceeds stated correctional facility limits 3. Altered from original form 5. Exceeds reasonable safety, security, sanitary or space considerations 6. May be harmful and/or poses threat to security or orderly operations of facility Disposition of item seized: 1. Properly Disposed 2. Evidence 3. Placed in property 4. Questionable Ownership Name of Item Reason Dispo Name of Item Reason Dispo	If applicable, Reason	on for Isolatio	n: <u>n</u>	/a					
Name of Item Reason Dispo. Name of Item Reason Dispo.	Not authorized for Exceeds stated or	or retention/r orrectional fa	eceipt	5. Ex	ceeds reas	sonable safety.	security, sanitary or	space considerations or orderly operations of fac	cility
Name of tiem	Disposition of item	seized:	Properly Dispos	ed 2.	Evidence	3. Place	l in property	4. Questionable Owne	ership _
	Name of Item			Reason	Dispo.	Name of Iter	n	Reason	Dispo.
							100		-
					I				

Sign

Close Custody Special Housing Unit Orientation

DISCIPLINARY DETENTION/PRE-HEARING DISCIPLINARY DETENTION

The Close Custody SHU designation status is a non-punitive status in which restricted conditions of confinement are required only to ensure the safety of immates or others, the protection of property, or the security or good order of the facility.

The following restrictions and privileges shall apply and shall be further articulated to you by the SHU Supervisor:

Restrictions, Rights and Privileges

- An inmate will remain in Disciplinary Detention for no more than fifteen (15) days for a single violation and no more than 20 days for a single incident, no more than 30 days in a 60 day period.
- Each inmate will be offered more than (2) hours of recreation per day, seven (7) days a week, unless documented security or safety considerations
 dictate otherwise.
- Shall be able to write and receive mail and correspondence as they would otherwise be able to do while detained within the general population.
- Shall have access to personal legal materials, law library materials, and legal visits.
- Shall not have access to telephones. Special telephone calls may only be authorized with the written consent of the Office of the Warden.
- Permitted only authorized clothing and linen, no commissary and a reasonable amount of legal materials.
- A health care provider shall visit every inmate in the SHU at least once daily. Inmates shall be provided medications as prescribed for them.
 Inmates will have access to regularly scheduled sick call regardless of housing assignment.
- An inmate's mental health status shall be reviewed and documented at least once every thirty (30) days.
- Shall be provided three (3) nutritionally adequate meals per day, according to the general population meal schedule and ordinarily from the same menu. If an inmate uses food or food service equipment in a manner that is hazardous to self, staff, or other inmates, alternative meal service may be provided. Alternative meal service is on an individual basis, is based upon health and safety considerations only, meets basic nutritional requirements, and can only occur with written approval of the facility administrator, or designee, and the responsible health authority. The substitution may not exceed seven (7) days.
- Shall be afforded the opportunity to shave at least three (3) times weekly (security precautions permitting) and shall be afforded the opportunity to shower daily.
- Laundry, hair care, barbering, clothing, bedding, and linen shall be provided equivalent to the general population and consistent with safety and security of the facility.
- As needed, shall be provided toilet tissue and hygiene items that may be issued via retrievable kits.
- An inmate may be denied such items as clothing, mattress, bedding, linens, or pillow for medical or mental health reasons if his or her possession
 of such items raises concerns for inmate safety and/or facility security.
- Shall not retain normal contact or non-contact visits in accordance with N.J.A.C. 10A:31-17.7. Special visits may only be authorized with the
 written consent of the Office of the Warden.
- Shall maintain legal visits, however, the Office of the Warden, or designee, may implement security precautions.
- Shall not be allowed visits by members of the clergy.

Issued by: Print/Sign/ID #

- Upon request, inmates housed in the SHU shall have the same law library access as the general population, unless compelling security concerns require limitations.
 - a. Staff members shall supervise the library use by an inmate housed in the SHU as warranted by the individual's behavior. Inmates segregated for protection must be provided access to legal materials. Such inmates may be required to use the law library separately or, if that is not feasible, legal materials must be brought to them upon request
 - b. Violent or uncooperative inmates may be temporarily denied access to the law library if necessary to maintain security, until such time as their behavior warrants resumed access. In some circumstances, legal material may be brought to individuals in Disciplinary Detention.
- Inmates in Disciplinary Detention are restricted from using telephones to make general calls as part of the disciplinary process; however, even in Disciplinary Detention, inmates shall have some telephone access for special purposes as approved by the Office of the Warden. Ordinarily, staff shall permit immates in Disciplinary Detention to make direct or free Consular and legal calls (when applicable), except for compelling and documented reasons of safety, security, and good order.
- Inmate will be provided translation or interpretation services while in the SHU to assist with their understanding of conditions of confinement as well as their rights and responsibilities.
- ANY INMATE IN THE SHU WITH A MEDICAL/MENTAL HEALTH OR OTHER CLASSIFICATION STATUS MAY HAVE ANY OF THE
 AFOREMENTIONED PRIVILEGES RESTRICTED WHEN ORDERED AND DOCUMENTED BY THE MEDICAL OR MENTAL HEALTH
 DEPARTMENTS AND/OR THE OFFICE OF THE WARDEN, OR DESIGNEE.

of this orientation and the Close Custody SHU Disciplinary Detention Order.

Issued to:

217008493

Commitment/Alien # Signature

By signing above you acknowledge that you received a copy

ECDOC

All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident summary. In preparing this report clearly state who, what, when and where. Do not forward report without Supervisor Signature.

Date# 01-19-22 IR# 573-22 UOF# 20-22

Incident Report Summary

RE: USM SDNY

Hossain, Delowar #217008493 Building 2 Level 3 Pod D Cell 318-01

On Wednesday January 19, 2022, I Office	er	was assigned to	Building 2 Level 3
Pod D as the Security Officer. At approx	imately 1007 hou	rs I Officer	was conducting
medication distribution with Nurse	I Officer	asked Inmat	e Hossain, Delowar
to lock in his cell 318, while medication v	was being distribu	ited on the tier. Inn	nate Hossain.
Delowar refused to comply after several of	orders, Inmate Ho	ssain, Delowar the	n became very
hostile, and began acting irate. Inmate He	ossain then began	clenching his fist a	and got into a
combative stance. I Officer	ook control of Inn	nate Hossain's left	arm and he was
taken to the ground where he continued to	o be combative. V	Vhile on the ground	I immediately
secured, Inmate Hossain to the ground by	grabbing him by	his upper back and	l arms until handouffs
were placed on him. He was then placed i	in an upright posi	tion. Sergeant	and suited team
arrived to take over the incident. I have n	o injuries to repo	rt. End of report.	

Reporting Frint/Sign/ID#

Approving Print/Sign/ID#

Shift Commander Print/Sign/ID#

Approving Print/Sign/ID# (II Applicable)

Incident and Officer/Supervisor Information	Essex County Department of Corre	ections	All Use	of Force re			ve a cor	mplete	Date:		1-19-22		-
Incident and Officer/Supervisor Information Name (Last, First, M.) ID# Sex Jay	Use of Force Report		Incident Report										_
Immediate UOF Alicalated Oph Auth. Admin./Designer (Name) Alicalated Oph Med. Consult/Referal (Name) Calculated UOF (Prior Name) Calculated UOF	1000 ID 1 T.	(C			-1				UOF	†	20-22	-	
Immediate UOF Calculated Only Auth Admin. Designee (Name) Calculated Chiby Med. Consult/Referral (Name) Calculated Chiby Med. Canculated Chiby Med				Direct MA		~		ID#	- 1	Sev		Injur	ed
Immediate UOF Calculated Only Auth. Admin. Designer (Name) Calculated Chip Med. Consult/Referral (Name) Calculated UOF (Print Name) Calculated UO		1	vallie (Last	, FIISt, IVI.)				A STATE OF THE STA	- V		ΠE		
Calculated UJF (Print Name) (Pr		ı. Admin./D	Designee (Nan	ne) Calculated	Only Med. (Consul	t/Referral		Calculate				
Sex	Calculated UOF (Print Name)								(Print N	lame)			
Commitment # Alien # Sex Implied Description Compliance hold Relies of Force Subject actions Officer UOF toward subject Select all areas affected by UOF Compliance hold Ricks/Feet 1 To prevent organical part of a feature from the first SAP 2 To prevent serious damage to property MR-3 mfg date: Sheled 3 To prevent expendence MR-46 mfg date: PR-24 4 To prevent expendence MR-46 mfg date: Propert Propert MR-46 mfg date: Propert Propert MR-46 mfg date: Propert MR-46 mfg date: Propert MR-46 mfg date: PR-24 MR-46 mfg date: Propert Propert MR-46 mfg date: Propert					(all) 4								
Commitment # Alien # Sex Implied Description Compliance hold Relies of Force Subject actions Officer UOF toward subject Select all areas affected by UOF Compliance hold Ricks/Feet 1 To prevent organical part of a feature from the first SAP 2 To prevent serious damage to property MR-3 mfg date: Sheled 3 To prevent expendence MR-46 mfg date: PR-24 4 To prevent expendence MR-46 mfg date: Propert Propert MR-46 mfg date: Propert Propert MR-46 mfg date: Propert MR-46 mfg date: Propert MR-46 mfg date: PR-24 MR-46 mfg date: Propert Propert MR-46 mfg date: Propert	Lines I / Line subject involved in I	IOE with	Officer II	stad ahaya									
All		JOF WILL	Officer ii	-		ΙΔΙ	ien#		Sex		Injured	Dece	eased
Reason for Force' Subject actions Resisted officer control Resisted				1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		1.11	icii ii			\Box F			/ 🔯 i
Resisted officer control Comptiance hold Ricks/Feet 1	Self-Annual Annual		Officer U	OF toward	subject			Sel	ect all a	reas at	ffected by L	JOF	
To prevent or quell a not or disturbance Manda/Frise Shield 3 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 3		Com				Feet						ν.	
To prevent serious damage to property					=		_		11		615	7	
Forced psychotropic medication		MK-	3 mfg date:		Shield	1	□ 3	1 TE	المعاديد		11/12	1	\boxtimes
To prevent a suicide		-	_		☐ PR-24			1	راد م		113	45	
To prevent escape								13	1	4	13/1	13	
Cell extraction						e		17/	6/1	1	17/11/	1/1	
Protect self/others from death or ser. injury Dinix Delear dy used: Delear dy		clear [□green □w	nite [red/bla	ck qty used:			651	YI	ITA.	116	188	
Protect selfothers from death or ser. injury Dirik Clelear dy used: Direct D	Protect self/others from bodily harm	FN-3	303: Projectil	e : 🗌 orange	□yellow		□ 8	alle /	8 9	490			
Refusal of DNA Firearm: serial# # of rounds 11 Other: Other: Other: Other:	Protect self/others from death or ser. injury	☐pink [clear qty us	ed:			□9).	Mil		()	4	
Refusal of DNA	To enforce ECCF regulations	N Post	Exposure Cl	lean up condu	icted		□ 10	1 6	10(11)		21/2	2/	
wbject 2 (List subject involved in UOF with Officer listed above) ame (Last, First, M.) Commitment # Alien # Sex Injured December	Refusal of DNA	Fires	arm: serial#	# of ro	unds		□ 11)			MA	1	
Sex Injured December Dece	Other:	Othe	er:					1 2	216		UL)	N/
Resisted officer control Resisted officer control Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance Hands/Fists ASP To prevent serious damage to property MK-3 mfg date: To prevent a suicide MK-9 mfg date: To prevent a suicide MK-46 mfg date: To prevent escape Pepper ball: Projectile: red/white purple 6 Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injury To others. Select all areas affected by UOF Selec						iains							
Resisted officer control	Subject 2 (List subject involved in U			sted above)		lien#	1 2	100			7	7000
To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance Hands/Fists	Subject 2 (List subject involved in UNAME (Last, First, M.)		n Officer li	sted above	nent #		lien#		M/	-	□Y/□N	1 □X	7000
To prevent serious damage to property MK-3 mfg date: Shield 3	ubject 2 (List subject involved in lame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions	UOF with	o Officer li	sted above)] nent # subject	Al			M/	-	ffected by U	JOF	/
Foreed psychotropic medication MK-9 mfg date:	ubject 2 (List subject involved in lame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control	UOF with	Officer li Officer U	sted above	nent # subject	Al			M/	-	ffected by U	JOF	/ []
To prevent a suicide	ubject 2 (List subject involved in lame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance	UOF with	Officer li Officer U	sted above	nent # subject Kicks/	Al /Feet			M/	-	ffected by U	JOF	
To prevent escape Pepper ball: Projectile: red/white purple 6 7 7	ubject 2 (List subject involved in Idame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property	UOF with	Officer li Officer U ppliance hold ds/Fists 3 mfg date:	sted above	nent # subject Kicks ASP Shield	Al /Feet			M/	-	ffected by U	JOF	
Cell extraction	ubject 2 (List subject involved in I ame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication	Com Han	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date:	sted above	nent # subject Kicks ASP Shield	Al /Feet	1		M/	-	ffected by U	JOF	
Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injury Protect self/others from death or ser. i	ubject 2 (List subject involved in lame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide	Com Han	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date;	Sted above Commitr	subject Kicks/ ASP Shield	/Feet	1 2 3 4 5		ect all a	-	ffected by U	JOF	
Protect self/others from death or ser. injury pink clear qty used: Post Exposure Clean up conducted 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	ubject 2 (List subject involved in lame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape	Com Han MK- MK-	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date: per ball: Proje	sted above Commitr OF toward	nent # subject Kicks ASP Shield PR-24	Al /Feet	1	Sel	ect all a	reas a	ffected by U	I OF	
To enforce ECCF regulations Post Exposure Clean up conducted 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1	ubject 2 (List subject involved in lame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction	Com Han MK- MK- Pepp Clear	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists 3 mfg date: 9 mfg date: 46 mfg date; per ball: Proje	sted above Commitr OF toward ctile: □red/w	nent # subject Kicks ASP Shield PR-24 hite purpl	Al /Feet	1	Sel	ect all a	reas a	ffected by U	I OF	
Refusal of DNA Firearm: serial# # of rounds 11 Other: Other: Other: Handcuffs Flex Cuffs Leg Irons Wrist & Belly Chains If more than 2 subjects, attach additional UOF sheets. Only fill out subject areas, Date, IR# and UOF# on additional sheets Officer/Supervisor Sign?	ubject 2 (List subject involved in I ame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm	Com Han MK MK MK Pepp Clear FN-	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists 3 mfg date: 9 mfg date: 46 mfg date: per ball: Proje greenwi 303: Projectil	Sted above Commitr OF toward ctile: red/white red/bla e: orange	nent # subject Kicks ASP Shield PR-24 hite purpl	Al /Feet	1	Sel	ect all a	reas a	ffected by U	I OF	
Other: Other:	ubject 2 (List subject involved in Idame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur	Com Han MK MK MK Pepp Clear FN-	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date: per ball: Projectil green with the service of the serv	of toward ctile: red/white red/blate: orange used:	subject Shield PR-24 hite purplack qty used:	Al /Feet	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9	Sel	ect all a	reas a	ffected by U	I OF	
Handcuffs Flex Cuffs Leg Irons Wrist & Belly Chains If more than 2 subjects, attach additional UOF sheets. Only fill out subject areas, Date, IR# and UOF# on additional sheets Officer/Supervisor Sign	ubject 2 (List subject involved in lame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur	Com Han MK- MK- MK- Pepp Clear Clear Pink [Pos	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date; per ball: Proje green with some of the service of the	ctile: red/white red/blace: orange used:	subject Kicks/ ASP Shield PR-24	Al /Feet	1	Sel	ect all a	reas a	ffected by U	I OF	
If more than 2 subjects, attach additional UOF sheets. Only fill out subject areas, Date, IR# and UOF# on additional sheets Officer/Supervisor Sign A	ubject 2 (List subject involved in lame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA	Com Hann MK- MK- Pepp Clear Pink Pos	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists 3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date: per ball: Proje green with a constant of the constan	ctile: red/white red/blace: orange used:	subject Kicks/ ASP Shield PR-24	Al /Feet	1	Sel	ect all a	reas a	ffected by U	I OF	
Officer/Supervisor Sign A	Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA Other:	Com Hann MK MK Pepp clear pink Pros	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists 3 mfg date: 9 mfg date: 46 mfg date: green with a minimum w	ctile: red/white red/blate: orange used:	subject Sticks ASP Shield PR-24 hite purpl ack qty used: yellow ucted ounds	/Feet	1	Sel	ect all a	reas a	ffected by U	I OF	
Officer/Supervisor Sign A	Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA Other:	Com Hann MK MK Pepp clear pink Pros	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists 3 mfg date: 9 mfg date: 46 mfg date: green with a minimum w	ctile: red/white red/blate: orange used:	subject Sticks ASP Shield PR-24 hite purpl ack qty used: yellow ucted ounds	/Feet	1	Sel	ect all a	reas a	ffected by U	I OF	
Officer/Supervisor Sign	Reason for Force/ Subject involved in Usame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA Other:	Com Hann MK MK Pepp clear pink Pros	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists 3 mfg date: 9 mfg date: 46 mfg date: green with a minimum w	ctile: red/white red/blate: orange used:	subject Sticks ASP Shield PR-24 hite purpl ack qty used: yellow ucted ounds	/Feet	1	Sel	ect all a	reas a	ffected by U	I OF	
Data	Reason for Force/ Subject actions Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA Other: Restraints: Handcuffs Fie	Com Han MK- MK- Clear Clear Pos Fire: Cuffs	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date: per ball: Projectil green with Exposure Carm: serial# er: Leg Iron:	ctile: red/w hite red/bla le: lorange used:	subject Kicks/ ASP Shield PR-24 hite purplack qty used: yellow ucted ounds	/Feet	1	Sel	ect all ar	reas a	12 13 14 19 21/2	I OF	
Data	Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA Other: Restraints: Handcuffs Fie	Com Han MK- MK- Clear Clear Pos Fire: Cuffs	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date: per ball: Projectil green with Exposure Carm: serial# er: Leg Iron:	ctile: red/w hite red/bla le: lorange used:	subject Kicks/ ASP Shield PR-24 hite purplack qty used: yellow ucted ounds	/Feet	1	Sel	ect all ar	reas a	12 13 14 19 21/2	I OF	
Reviewing Supervisor Brint: Sign: Date:	Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA Other: Restraints: Handcuffs Fie	Com Han MK- MK- Clear Clear Pos Fire: Cuffs	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date: per ball: Projectil green with Exposure Carm: serial# er: Leg Iron:	ctile: red/w hite red/bla le: lorange used:	subject Kicks/ ASP Shield PR-24 hite purplack qty used: yellow ucted ounds	/Feet	1	Sel	ect all ar	reas a	12 13 14 19 21/2	I OF	easec
Reviewing Supervisor Brint: Sign: Date:	Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA Other: Cestraints: Handcuffs Flee	Com Han MK- MK- Clear Clear Pos Fire: Cuffs	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date: per ball: Projectil green with Exposure Carm: serial# er: Leg Iron:	ctile: red/w hite red/bla le: lorange used:	subject Kicks/ ASP Shield PR-24 hite purplack qty used: yellow ucted ounds	/Feet	1	Sel	ect all ar	reas a	12 13 14 19 21/2	I OF	
Reviewing Supervisor Brint: Sign:	ubject 2 (List subject involved in Idame (Last, First, M.) Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent a suicide To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA Other: Cestraints: Handcuffs Flee	Com Han MK- MK- Clear Clear Pos Fire: Cuffs	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date: per ball: Projectil green with Exposure Carm: serial# er: Leg Iron:	ctile: red/w hite red/bla le: lorange used:	subject Kicks/ ASP Shield PR-24 hite purplack qty used: yellow ucted ounds	/Feet	1	Sel	ect all ar	reas a	12 13 14 19 21/2	I OF	
ZXIII	Reason for Force/ Subject actions Resisted officer control To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property Forced psychotropic medication To prevent escape Cell extraction Protect self/others from bodily harm Protect self/others from death or ser. injur To enforce ECCF regulations Refusal of DNA Other: Restraints: Handcuffs If more than 2 subjects	Com Han MK- MK- Clear Clear Pos Fire: Cuffs	Officer Unpliance hold ds/Fists -3 mfg date: -9 mfg date: -46 mfg date: per ball: Projectil green with Exposure Carm: serial# er: Leg Iron:	ctile: red/white red/blate: lean up cond # of r	subject Subject Shield PR-24 hite purpl ack qty used: yellow ucted ounds st & Belly Cr	/Feet	1	Sel	ect all ar	reas a	ffected by U 12 13 14 17 19 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21 21	JOF 15	

Case 1:19-gr-00606-SHS Document 188-1 Filed 03/07/22 Page 10 of 24

ECDOC

All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident summary. In preparing this report clearly state who, what, when and where. Do not forward report without Supervisor Signature. Date# <u>01 - 19 - 2022</u> IR# <u>573-22</u> UOF# 20-22

Incident Report Summary

RE: Building 2 level 3 Unit D Inmate Hossain, Delowar USM-SDNY Commitment #217008493 Cell-318-01

On January 19, 2022 I Officer	was assigned to Special Detail with DCO. At approximately
1007 hours, I was notified by the sub-control Office	to assist with an altercation that had
occurred on the right side of the unit, on the tier that	t houses cells 317-324. Inmate Hossain was given several
orders to go secure in his cell due to his recreation t	ime being complete. I entered the tier where Inmate Hossain
was being an active resister, at which time he was st	till refusing to comply. At this time, Inmate Hossain became
irate, displaying closed fists. He stood in a combative	ve stance. I Officer deployed Oleoresin Capsicum
spray, 2 second burst to Inmate Hossain's facial are	a, in reasonable fear of a physical attack. Once Inmate
Hossain was on the ground, handcuffs were applied	. Sergeant and a suited team arrived and took over the
situation. Inmate Hossain was escorted by the suited	team to Main Medical for Post Exposure cleanup, and
further medical evaluation. I Officer have r	to injuries to report. End of report.

Reporting Print/Sign/ID#

Approving Print/Sign/ID#

Essex County	Department of Corr	ections	All Ilse	of Force r	enorfs mus	t hay	ve a cor	nnlete	Date:		01-19-2022)	
The second secon	of Force Report		III OS	, c u co.	IR# UOF#			513-22					
			*										
Incident and	Officer/Supervisor Int	formatio	n						- Children Conty				
Time	Location		Name (Las	st, First, M.)				ID#		Sex	. De	Inju	
1007	2D1	1 1 Audus 6	National Ale	- Calculate	Calculated C	laman k	t/D of own!	3221	Calculate		/ DF Mental Health (Y/ XN
Immediate	UOF Calculated Only Aut UOF (Print Name)N/A	n. Admin/l	Designee (Na	(Print N	ame)N/A	onsui	UKelemai	(Name)	(Print N			Consult	хетегтаг
Calculated	OOF COMMISSION			- W-2					-				
					. 1								
	t subject involved in I	JOF with	h Officer	T		T-61	1		To	_	The files of	I De-	
Name (Last, Fi Hossain, Delov				2170084			ien#	TEXT N	Sex.	ΠE	Injured □Y/ ⊠N		eased '/⊠N
	orce/ Subject actions		Officer I	OF toward	-	L.	TOKW	2.5	Control of the Control		ffected by U	-	1
Resisted office		⊠ Com	apliance hold		Kicks/	Feet	⊠1	30		Cuo u		0.1	□ 12
	quell a riot or disturbance		ds/Fists		ASP		⊠ 2		(1)		123		□ 13
	rious damage to property		-3 mfg date:	2021	Shield		□3	1	للمجين		1	N	□ 14
	stropic medication		-9 mfg date:		☐ PR-24		□4	1	2 3		J J13	23	□ 15
To prevent a s		-	-46 mfg date	P			□5	13	1	1	141	13	□ 16
To prevent esc		Pepp	per ball: Proje	ectile: red/w	hite purple		□ 6	Th	6	1	17/1/17	171	□ 17
Cell extraction		□ clear !	□green □v	hite red/bla	ack qty used:		□7	25	YI	17%	19	副	L 18
Protect self/ot	hers from bodily harm	☐ FN-:	303: Project:	ile : 🗌 orange	yellow		□ 8	and	8 9	A STATE	19 20	/ "	□ 19
Protect self/ot	hers from death or ser, injury	pink [clear qty u	sed:	3-3-7-1		□9	1	Mil		10/10		□ 20
To enforce EC	CCF regulations	N Post	t Exposure C	lean up cond	ucted		☐ 10	ŧ	10(11)		27/23		21
Refusal of DN	IA	Fire	arm: serial#	# of ro	unds		⊠ 11	3			MM		☒ 22
Other:		Othe	er:						216		00		N/A
Subject 2 (Lis Name (Last, Fi	t subject involved in l irst, M.)	JOF with	h Officer	Commite		Al	lien#		Sex		Injured	Dece	eased
D . C . D	- 10 1:tti		Officer	OF toward	subject	_			M/	-	☐Y/☐N ffected by U(DE X	//N
Resisted office	orce/ Subject actions	Con	npliance hold		Kicks/	Feet		Gei	cet all al	cas a		-	☐ 12
	quell a riot or disturbance		ds/Fists		ASP		□2		(1)		(12)		□ 13
	rious damage to property	=	-3 mfg date:		Shield		□3	(F	- The		15.7	T	□ 14
	ntropic medication		-9 mfg date:		PR-24		□4	1	2 4		110130	15	□ 15
To prevent a s			-46 mfg date				□ 5	13	1	λ .	141	Kill	□ 16
To prevent esc				ectile: red/w	hite purple		□6	M	6	1	17/11/	111	□ 17
Cell extraction		clear	□green □v	hite red/bla	ack qty used:		□7	55	YI	130 -	25	脚片	□ 18
Protect self/ot	hers from bodily harm	_	Water Committee and the second	ile : orange	□yellow		□8	office /	8 19/	Allo	19 20	1	□ 19
Protect self/o	thers from death or ser, injur	pink [□clear qty	used:			□9	}	11/1/				□ 20
To enforce EC	CCF regulations	0-		Clean up cond			□ 10	ŧ	10/11/		X 3 X 3		□ 21
Refusal of DN	A		arm: serial#	# of r	ounds		□ 11		101		MA		□ 22
Other:		Oth	AT REAL PROPERTY.	10				4	المالية		00		N/A
Restraints:	Handcuffs Flex	x Cuffs	Leg Iron	ıs Wri	st & Belly Ch	ains				_			
	Control of the A.S.	OREST.			. mu		oic n in	ID# and	UOE# **	. 44141	anol chante		
	If more than 2 subjects	s, attach ac	iditional UO	r sheets. Onl	y mi out subj	ect ar	eas, Date	, LK# and	OUF# ON	additi	mai saccis		
Officer/Superv	isor Sign:												
	P			l es	on:						Date	4	
Keviewing Sup	ervisor Print:			51	gn:						Date	1001-	10

Case 1:19-cr-00606-SHS Document 188-1 Filed 03/07/22 Page 12 of 24

ECDOC

All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident summary. In preparing this report clearly state who, what, when and where. Do not forward report without Supervisor Signature. Date# 1/19/2022 1R# 573-22 UOF# 20-22

Incident Report Summary

RE:Hossain, Delowar #217008493 (USM SDNY) Building 2 Level 3 Pod D Cell 318-01

On January 19, 2022 I Officer	was assigned to a special detail wi	ith DCO in Building
2 Level 3 D Pod. At approxima	tely 1005 am hours the desk Officer	requested that I
Officer assist Officer	in persuading Inmate Hossain, De	lowar to enter his
cell in order to conduct medicati	ion movement. Inmate Hossain, Delowar was	not being
cooperative as he became an act	ive resistor by waving his arms in the air with	clenched fists and
refusing to enter his cell. At app	proximately 1007 am hours I Officer use	sed a proportional
amount of physical force by gral	bbing Inmate Hossain, Delowar from behind a	s I attempted to
place Inmate Hossain, Delowar	into his cell 318. Inmate Hossain, Delowar co	ntinued to actively
resist my control, so he was then	taken to the ground where I used mechanical	restraints. Inmate
Hossain, Delowar was secured in	n the shower. I have no injuries to report at thi	is time. End of
report		

Reporting Print/Sign/ID#

Approving Print Sign/ID#

Approving Print/Sign/ID# (If Applicable)

Shift Commander Print/Sign/ID#

Case 1:19-cr-00606-SHS Document 188-1 Filed 03/07/22 Page 13 of 24

Essex County Department of	Corrections	Ali Use	of Force re	ports mus	t have a	a con	plete	Date:	1-	-19-22		
Use of Force Repo	rt	1000		Incident Report					5	73-22		
	4****		50.5					UOF#	20	0-22		
Incident and Officer/Superviso			5 000 m 4 4	ii l								
Time Location		Name (Las	t, First, M.)				ID#		Sex	15	Injur	
1007 2D3 X Immediate UOF Calculated Onl	Auth Admin /	Decience (No	ma) Calculated	Only Med C	ancult/Da	formal	3390 (Name)		M/ □	Jr ntal Health (// XI
Calculated UOF (Print Name)	y Aum. Admur.	Designee (war	(Print Na	me)	Olisulvice	ICITAL	(tvaile)	(Print Na		na ricain (CONSUM	Colcina
Calculated COT	CANAL STREET											
				_								
ubject 1 (List subject involved	in UOF wit	h Officer I			Tearne			0	1.	1	In	TO L TO
Vame (Last, First, M.) Hossan. Delowar			21700849		Alien	Ħ		Sex ⊠M/		njured]Y/⊠N		eased
Reason for Force/ Subject action	mc I	Officer II	OF toward s	No. of Concession, Name of Street, or other Designation, Name of Street, or other Designation, Name of Street,			Sele	A STATE OF THE PARTY OF THE PAR		ted by U	Charles on the last	T V
Resisted officer control		npliance hold	Oi toward 2	Kicks/I	cet [JF.	Ben		do difec		<u> </u>	
To prevent or quell a riot or disturbate		nds/Fists		ASP]2		(1)		6125		
To prevent serious damage to proper		-3 mfg date:		Shield]3	(F	Track !		11:1	T	
Forced psychotropic medication		-9 mfg date:		PR-24]4	1/2	2 =		130	13	
To prevent a suicide	□ мк	-46 mfg date:]5	13/2	- This		13/	C:II	
To prevent escape	Pep	per ball: Proje	ectile: red/wh	ite [purple]6	Th	6	1	7/1 17	17/	
Cell extraction	□clear	□green □ w	hite []red/blas	ck qty used:		77	15 (8	YII	10 419	A	Tall !	
Protect self/others from bodily harm	☐ FN-	303: Projecti	le : Orange [Jyellow	D	⊠ 8	AND 8	9/	AND AND	19 20	/	×
Protect self/others from death or ser.	injury pink	□clear qty us	sed:		D	₹9	1	5/ 1/		1"()"	(X
To enforce ECCF regulations	Pos	t Exposure C	tean up condu	eted	D	N 10	1	0(11)		21/22		×
Refusal of DNA	Fire	arm: serial#	# of rou	nds	Σ	⊠ 11	1	117		MM		\boxtimes
Other	Oth	er:					2	216		UU		N/
ubject 2 (List subject involved lame (Last, First, M.)	in OOF wit	n Officer i	Commitm		Alien	#		ex		njured	Dece	ease
						_		_M/ _F		Y / □N		/
Reason for Force/ Subject actio		-	OF toward s				Sele	ect all are	as affec	ited by U(OF	
Resisted officer control		npliance hold		Kicks/I] 1				(12)		-
To prevent or quell a riot or disturba		-3 mfg date:		Shield		3	1	MA TO THE REAL PROPERTY OF THE PERTY OF THE		1	N	H
To prevent serious damage to proper Forced psychotropic medication		-9 mfg date:		PR-24		34	1	2		1 13	73	
To prevent a suicide		-46 mfg date:] 5	(3)	-XXX		14/	1.3	
To prevent escape			ectile: []red/wh	ite purple]6	H	6		7/1 17	171	
Cell extraction	□clear	☐green ☐w	hite 🔲 red/bla	ck qty used:		7	651	YII	TO WAR	A	弧上	
Protect self/others from bodily harm	☐ FN-	303: Projecti	le : Dorange [yellow	L	38	25 8	19/	AND ADDA	19 20	1	
Protect self/others from death or ser	injury pink	Clear qty	used:]9	1	The st			į	
To enforce ECCF regulations		st Exposure (lean up condu	cted] 10	to	0 11		27/22	1	
Refusal of DNA		earm: serial#	# of ro] [[1	11/		MM		
Other:	Oth	er:				1	2	AL.		UU		N/
estraints: Handouffs	Flex Cuffs	Leg Iron	s Wris	& Belly Cha	ins		-42			4 0		
			100									
											_	
If more than 2 su	hiects, attach a	dditional IIO	F sheets. Only	fill out subic	ct areas.	Date.	IR# and I	UOF# on a	dditional	sheets		
A MOTE LIBER 2 SU	Alexand actuation to				3,00		1530, 207					
Officer/Supervisor Sign:												
- 1217 17 March 2010 10 March												

Case 1:19-gr-00606-SHS Document 188-1 Filed 03/07/22 Page 14 of 24

ECDOC

All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident summary. In preparing this report clearly state who, what, when and where. Do not forward report without Supervisor Signature.

Date# 1-19-22 IR# 573-22 UOF# 20-22

Incident Report Summary

Re: Inmate Hossain, Delowar USM-SDNY Commitment #2021007296 (Cell 318-01)

On Wednesday, Januar	y 19th 2021 I Officer	was assigned to a CERT
detail with DCO Workers in b	uilding 2 level 3 D Pod. At	approximately 10:07 hours,
Sub-Control Officer	notified me of altercat	ion occurring on the right side
of the unit, on the tier which h	ouses cells 317-324. When	I stepped into the tier, Inmate
Hossain, D was an active resis	tor, he was uncooperative a	nd was refusing all orders to
lock back into his cell so medi		
, Officer	Officer	and I attempted to escort
Inmate Hossain to his cell. Inn		
assailant by taking a combative		
air towards us. At this point to		
Inmate Hossain was taken to the		
down his lower left extremities		
		to medical for post- exposure
cleanup and evaluation, I Office	er have no inj	uries to report. End of Report.

Reporting Print/Sign/ID#

/Approving Print/Sigp/ID#

Essex County	Department of Corr	ections	All Use	of Force re	enorts mus	st ha	ve a cor	nplete	Date:		1-19-22		
	of Force Report		1200		ident Rep				IR#		513-2	2	
									UOF#		20-2	2	J
	Officer/Supervisor In		The second second second		1 1 1 1 1 1 1	_		15678	-				
Time	Location		Name (Las	st, First, M.)				ID#		Sex ⊠M/[Tle	Injur	
1007	JOF Calculated Only Aut	h Admin /	Designee (Na	me) Calculated	Only Med (onsu	t/Referral	3462 (Name)			r ental Health (//⊠N Referral
Calculated		n. Automat	Jesignee (Ivai	(Print Na		Collada	ie ivoloitai	(Ivalie)	(Print Na		Cittal Licator C	Conspicer	verena
	331			-							1-1-		-11
*		TOP W	- C-CC 1	Taked alegae									
	subject involved in	UOF with	h Officer I	THE RESERVE TO BE SHOWN	-	LA	lien#	_	Sex		(mlamad)	Dag	eased
Name (Last, Fin Hossan, Delow				21700849		A	nen #		Sex ⊠M/[Injured □Y/⊠N		/⊠N
THE RESERVE AND ADDRESS OF THE PERSON NAMED IN	orce/ Subject actions		Officer II	OF toward		_		Sele			cted by UC	ACCRECATE VALUE OF THE PARTY OF	I
Resisted office		Com	pliance hold		Kicks/	Feet	1	Deli	(T)	ous une			□ 12
	well a riot or disturbance	-	ds/Fists		ASP		□2		(1)		\$125		□ 13
	ious damage to property	-	-3 mfg date:		Shield		□3	(F	العميا		N'S	N	□ 14
	tropic medication	-	-9 mfg date:		☐ PR-24	1	□4) je	- 2 2		130	45	□ 15
To prevent a si			-46 mfg date:				□ 5	AST.	- Wil	1	LAN .	(5)	□ 16
To prevent esc	ape	-		ectile: red/wl		е	□6	M	6/1	1	17/11/1	11	☐ 17
Cell extraction				hite red/bla			□ ₇	55/ 8	Y. 11	The To	8 X	哪	18
	ers from bodily harm		and the second second second	le : orange	yellow		⊠ 8	4100	3 9 /	-80-	19 20		≥ 19
	ers from death or ser, injury		□clear qty us		2.14		⊠9),	1/1/		21/22		≥ 20
To enforce EC				lean up condu		_	⊠ 10	\(\frac{1}{2}\)	0(11)		117		⊠ 21
Refusal of DN.	A		arm: serial#	# of ro	inas	-	⊠ 11	1	111		nn		⊠ 22
Other:	Handcuffs Flex	Cuffs	Leg Irons	III Two	st & Belly Ch		=	6	ولا له		60		N/A
Name (Last, Fi	subject involved in trst, M.)	OOF WILL	onicer i	Commitn		A	lien#		ex M/ I		njured	Dece	eased
Descon for Fo	rce/ Subject actions	1	Officer II	OF toward :	subject	-	1	-	Section 2015		cted by UC	1	
Resisted office		Com	pliance hold	OI TOMAIG	Kicks/	Feet	Πı	200			_	-	□ 12
	uell a riot or disturbance	Han			☐ ASP		□2		(1)		(12)		□ 13
To prevent seri	ious damage to property	☐ MK-	-3 mfg date:		Shield		□3	15	11875		13	D	☐ I4
Forced psycho	tropic medication	☐ MK-	9 mfg date:		☐ PR-24		□4	be	1 3/4		14	le il	□ 15
To prevent a st			46 mfg date:				□ 5	CP	- JU	1	1910	14	□ 16
To prevent esc	ape	4	1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 2 - 1	ectile: red/wl		2	<u>6</u>	175	6/1	1	1 17	1 man	<u> </u>
Cell extraction	W Color No. 10 Color			hitered/bla		-	□7 □2	15 \ 8	19/	歌 歌	19/20	W F	18
=	ers from bodily harm	-	303: Projecti ⊒clear qty	te : orange			8	- /	1./		10/10		☐ 19 ☐ 20
	hers from death or ser, injur	-		Clean up condi	netod		□ 9 □ 10	7.	414		(21)(22)		21
To enforce EC			arm: serial#	# of ro		-		/3	9/11/		MM		22
Other:		Othe		0 VA10)	1 }{ ([4]		N/A
Restraints:	Handcuffs Fle	x Cuffs	Leg Iron	s Wris	t & Belly Ch	ains		44	(1 / MB		A 20		
1													
						_							
	400000000000000000000000000000000000000	× 6 cm 53	and and tion	Erberte Oak	. Cill and mile!		ana Data	ID# and I	IOF# on a	dditions	al chaate		
	If more than 2 subject.	s, attach ad	iditional UO	r sneets. Only	im out subj	ect ar	cas, Date,	INA SUU	OUT# OIL I	anition;	a succes		
Officer/Supervi	ear Sian		_										
A LINE OF STREET	avi Histo												
			_										
Reviewing Sup	ervisor Print:			Sig	gn:						Date	1	
THE PROPERTY OF THE PARTY OF TH											1	1000	-

ECDOC

All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident summary. In preparing this report clearly state who, what, when and where. Do not forward report without Supervisor Signature.

Date# 1/19/2022
IR# 5 13 - 2 2

Incident Report Summary

Re: Inmate Hossain, Delowar Commitment number# 217008493 US Marshall Inmate 2-D-3 Cell #318-01

vas generally assigned On Wednesday January 19, 2022 I, Officer as a relief Officer in 2-D-3 At approximately 1007 hours I Officer had ordered inmate 318-01 Hossain, Delowar #217008493to lock into his cell so that the nurse could do medications. Inmate Hossain was notified that he would complete his recreation time as soon as medication was completed. Inmate Hossain stepped into his cell, as I was attempting to secure the cell door inmate Hossain became extremely agitated by growling and charged at me and tried to kick me with a forward right kick. I blocked the kick with my right hand and backed away from the inmate. I attempted to calm inmate Hossain down. Inmate Hossain again became agitated, growling and attempting to fight the Officers escorting him into his cell. I had opened the cell door and held it open so that it did not back lock. On the first attempt to escort inmate into the cell inmate Hossain placed his feet on the outside of the door. I used my right foot to try and push his left leg into the cell. I pressed the PPD button to call a code alarm. I assisted by placing my right hand on the inmates right shoulder to maintain control of the inmate. Inmate was escorted to main medical at 1031 with Sgt. and suited team that arrived to the unit. Inmate Hossain has been placed on Pre Hearing Detention Status. End of Report.

Reporting Print/Sign/ID#

Approving Print/Sign/ID#

Shift Commander Print/Sign/ID#

Essex County Department of Co	rrections	All Use	of Force repo	orts must hav	ve a cor	nplete	Date:	_1	119/22	2	
Use of Force Report		47.45	Incident Report				IR# 5		513-2	13-22	
							UOF#		20-22		
Incident and Officer/Supervisor I	nformatio	on						-	200		
Time Location		Name (Last	First M.)			ID#	15	Sex		Injur	ed
1007 2-D-3		I valle (Lab	1 1104 1111			2884		MM/	7F		// N
Immediate UOF Calculated Only A	uth, Admin.	Designee (Nan	ne) Calculated Or	ly Med, Consul	t/Referral		Calculated	Only Me	ntal Health C		
Calculated UOF (Print Name)			(Print Name				(Print Na	me)			
			,								
Subject 1 /I let aubject female et le	HOE	L Officer E	atad abaya)	I.							
Subject 1 (List subject involved in	OUT WI	in Onicer ii	Commitmen	L	ien#		Sex	11.	njured	Daga	ased
Name (Last, First, M.) Hossain, Delowar			217008493	IL# AI	ICII #		⊠M/[JY/⊠N		/ \N
Reason for Force/ Subject actions	Y	Officer H	OF toward sub	iect		Sele			cted by UC	Acres and the Person lies	
Resisted officer control	⊠ Co	mpliance hold		Kicks Eeet		Beie		us uric			
To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance		nds/Fists	İ	ASP	□2	6	(1)		(12)		
To prevent serious damage to property		C-3 mfg date:	İ	Shield	□3	15	THE TOWN		Nil	R)	
Forced psychotropic medication		(-9 mfg date:		PR-24	4	1 te	2 =		1134	H	⊠ 1
To prevent a suicide		C-46 mfg date:			□ 5	13/10	(* (t)		14/	13	
To prevent escape			tile: red/white	□purple	□6	M	6	\ /	71171	171	
Cell extraction	Clear	green wh	iite 🔲 red/black	qty used:	□7	25/ 8	YII	7 46	X	1187	
Protect self/others from bodily harm			e: Orange Dy	ellow	□8	8	9/	atta stilla	19 20	- Ada	
Protect self/others from death or ser. inj	ıry 🗆 pink	□clear qty use	ed:		□9	h	1/1				□ 2
▼ To enforce ECCF regulations	Po	st Exposure Cl	ean up conducte	d	□ 10	1	0(11)		27/22/		□ 2
Refusal of DNA	Fir	earm: serial#	# of round	S	⊠ 11	1	117,		1919		2
Other:	Oth	ner:				2	XX.		CC		N/A
Subject 2 (List subject involved it Name (Last, First, M.)			Commitmen	nt# Al	ien#		ex		njured		ased
		0.00	OF . I I	1000	1	The second second]M/ []F]Y/ □N		
Reason for Force/ Subject actions	Пе		OF toward sub		-	Sele	ct all are	as arrec	cted by UC)F	- Day
Resisted officer control		mpliance hold		Kicks/Feet ASP			1		(12)		
To prevent or quell a riot or disturbance To prevent serious damage to property	_=	C-3 mfg date:	- +	Shield		-	MA TO		1	7	
Forced psychotropic medication	_	C-9 mfg date:	İ	PR-24	4	(2		130	13	
To prevent a suicide		-46 mfg date:			□ 5	(3)	4		14/	1.57	
To prevent escape			tile: []red/white	purple	□6	M	6	1	7/11/1	17	
Cell extraction	□clear	□green □wh	ite [red/black	qty used:	□ 7	45/	YI	72 216	/ H	1187	
Protect self/others from bodily harm		The second secon	e: 🗌 orange 🔲 y	rellow	□8	8	9/	Alla altha	19 20		
Protect self/others from death or ser. in		□clear qty u			□9	1	1/1/		()		□ 20
To enforce ECCF regulations			lean up conducte		□ 10	10	0)(11)		11/2		□ 2
Refusal of DNA		earm: serial#	# of roun	ds		1	U/		MM		22
Other:	Oth					be	J. Car		00		N/A
Restraints: Handcuffs F	lex Cuffs	Leg Irons	☐ Wrist &	Belly Chains						~	
7 - 10 %		1 101 / 1 10 10 10				5/1.7	. I.				
If more than 2 subje	cts, attach a	dditional UOF	sheets. Only fil	l out subject ar	eas, Date	, IR# and C	OF# on a	dditional	sheets		
Officer/Supervisor Sign:		10. 10									
Officer/Supervisor Sign:		1/19/2	2								
	>	- 1.1/									
Reviewing Supervisor Print:			Sign:	V					Date:	V	

Case 1:19-cr-00606-SHS Document 188-1 Filed 03/07/22 Page 18 of 24

ECDOC

All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident summary. In preparing this report clearly state who, what, when and where. Do not forward report without Supervisor Signature. Date# 01/19/2022 IR# 573-22

UOF# 20-22

Incident Report Summary

On Wednesday January 19, 2022, I, Officer was assigned to work as a member of a CERT detail escorting DCO employees in Building 2, Level 3, D-Pod. At approximately 1007 hours, while on the bottom left tier (Cells 301-316) along with DCO, I was made aware of a situation on the bottom of the right side (Cells 317-324). I exited the bottom left tier, and upon arriving on the right side, I observed USM/SDNY inmate Hossain, Delowar (Cell 318-01 #217008493) was seated on the ground and was in handcuffs. I then returned to the left side and remained with DCO. I have no injuries to report at this time. End of report.

Case 1:19-	-cr-00606-SHS Document 188-1 Filed 03/07/22 Page All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident	∍ 19 of 2₄	4.1.1
ECDOC	All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident	Date#	1/19/22
ECDOC	summary. In preparing this report clearly state who, what, when	IR#	513 22
Incident Report Summary	and where. Do not forward report without Supervisor Signature.	UOF#	20-22

During medication distribution Inmate #318-01 Hossain, Delowar #217008493 became irate when asked to step back into his cell for medication distribution. Officer and Officer attempted to assist him into the cell and he became combative. Officers and in restraining Inmate Hossain. I Officer did not call a code due to the fact the five officers had the situation under control. End of report.

Reporting Print/Sign/ID#

Approving Print/Sign/ID# (If Applicable)

Approving Print/Sign/ID#

Shift Commander Print/Sign/ID#

Case 1:19-cr-00606-SHS Document 188-1 Filed 03/07/22 Page 20 of 24 All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident Date# 1-19-2022

ECDOC

Incident Report Summary

All Incident reports must have a critical data sheet and an incident summary. In preparing this report clearly state who, what, when and where. Do not forward report without Supervisor Signature.

Date# 1-19-2022
IR# 5 13-23
UOF# 00 23-

RE: INMATE HOSSAIN, DELOWAR COMM#217008493 USM: 87049-054 US MARSHALL INMATE 2D3 CELL# 318-01

I Ofc.	assigned to Building	2 Level 3 Unit D, r	eturned from break at	t approximately 1008
hours. As I entered	the unit I saw Ofc.	Ofc.	Ofc.	Ofc.
and Ofc.	on the bot	tom right tier attemp	pting to restrain inma	te Hossain, Delowar
#87049-054 as the i	nmate was behaving very c	ombative and resist	ing restraints. The in	mate was eventually
handcuffed and sec	ured in his cell. A suited te	am arrived at appro	ximately 1030 hours	and escorted inmate
Hossain, Delowar #	#87049-054 to Main Medic	al for further evalua	ation. End of report	

A. DISCIPLINARY REPORT - INSTITUTION'S COPY B. INVESTIGATION (reverse side of this sheet)

Case 1:19-cr-00606-SHS Document 188-1 Filed 03/07/22 Page 21 of 24 DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

A. DISCIPLINARY REPORT - INSTITUTION'S COPY

NAME OF INMATE (Last, First) + 1055AU, DE	OWAR #217008493
DOCKET No. 573-22 TIER 203	JOB ASSIGNMENT U/
PROHIBITED ACT 156 REFUSING TO GR	BY THE ORDER OF A STAFF
MEMBER	•
REPORTING OFFICER'S NAME	TITLE DEFICE
DATE 192 SIGNATURE	340
PLACE OF ALLEGED INFRACTION	DATE 1 19 22 TIME DOT AM/PM
ANY IMMEDIATE SPECIAL ACTION TAKEN	- PHD
AUTHORIZED BY	DATE 1 19 23 TIME 1025 AM/PM
WITNESS(ES), NAME(S) AND NUMBER(S)	AND THE SECOND TO SECOND THE SECOND TO SECOND THE SECON
	THE THE PARTY OF T
	JUMPE PLOSTED ORCEOLY STRING
HOSSAU THEN DOK A COMBATIVE STANCE. I	DC WAS DEPLOYED FOR COMPLEWED
	GAT STREET THE STREET STREET
OPY OF THIS REPORT DELIVERED TO ABOVE I	NMATE BY: PRINTED NAME
GNATURE	DATE 192 TIME 1238 AM/PM
MATE READ "USE IMMUNITY" RIGHTS (X) YES () NO DATE 190 TIME 1238 AM/PM

ESSEX COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

B. INVESTIGATION OF ALLEGED INFRACTION

() INMATE PLEADS GUILTY	SAWO NO.	() INMATE PI	EADS NOT GUILTY
STATEMENT OF INMATE CONCERNING CF	Mo comment	of pursual d	OHANTER ACT
	1-1/		. y. y. y. 1/1
STATEMENT(S) OF WITNESS(ES)	N/A	LH SHAPE	rumana antigra
	1.0.0	DOCKET NO	TIER
NAME OF WITNESS	u/A	AT.	the second to the case of the
STATEMENT	NIK	() NO11-17-173	IAP APACTURE CONTRACTOR
S poleli	1	CHELLON L	78 117 AMAINTA
Marks Crist aware con		DOCKET NO	TIER
NAME OF WITNESS	N/A	Antaragament	
STATEMENT			
2	PAULT TEATRACT	narezultsia et	5-3 or 101+5 145R
OTHER FACTS CONCERNING THE CHARG	iE		
2		NA	war war and the same of the sa
To American year to	- Al Shape	AND STREET	TOUR BURNEY SHOW THE PROPERTY OF
INVESTIGATOR'S COMMENTS AND CONC	CLUSIONS BASES	on my workgation	ws ornues
REDUCE I CONCLUDE THAT THE CHARGES	85 UpHerp	of the special to	and her
MEDOD I ANGION HALL LIVE ANIA		A STATE OF THE STA	111
HAMINGTON TO THE	THE N DU	MAR SUTTAKU A	JOG AGM CHALL
			1
IS A COUNSEL SUBSTITUTE REQUESTED	IN THIS CASE?	() YES	(X) NO
		y/ 4	
NAME OF COUNSEL SUBSTITUTE REQUE	35100		OR COMERONITATION
COMMENTS ON INMATE'S REQUEST FOR	R COUNSEL SUBSTIT	rute, witness(es)	OR CONFRONTATION
AND CROSS EXAMINATION	A)	10	11
100000000000000000000000000000000000000	10/	Pl Alana	
INVESTIGATOR'S NAME	W. Ser. 1. 11.	the state of the s	TARK ITA FIL
HAA EQUIDATION OF THE WAY	(PRINT)	(SIG	NATURE)
		DE RESOLUM	ACCUPATION OF THE RESIDENCE OF THE RESID

A. DISCIPLINARY REPORT - INSTITUTION'S COPY B. INVESTIGATION (reverse side of this sheet)

Case 1:19-cr-00606-SHS_Dacument 18811 Filed 03/07/22 Page 23 of 24

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

A. DISCIPLINARY REPORT - INSTITUTION'S COPY

NAME OF INMATE (Last, First)	HOSSAN, DETOWAR
the first and the property of the first of t	203 JOR ASSIGNMENT VA
	WHICH DISRUPTS OR INTERFERES WITH THE
SECURITY OR ORDERTY RUNDING	
REPORTING OFFICER'S NAME	TITLE UTTICLE
	ASSESSMENT OF THE PARTY OF THE
DATE 1/19/23 SIGNATUR	203 DATE 11922 TIME 1001 AM/PM
PLACE OF ALLEGED INFRACTION	BND
ANY IMMEDIATE SPECIAL ACTION	DATE 1 19 22 TIME 1525 AM/PM
AUTHORIZED BY	
WITNESS(ES), NAME(S) AND NUMBI	ER(S)
the wat to exist out MED	CTION INME HOSSAN WAS OUT ON RECREATION USINDE HIS CELL BECAUSE THE MUSIC WAS ON ICULE AND IMMATE HOSSAN RESUSED. IMMATE HUR, STANCE. DC WAS DEPLOYED FUR
COMPLAINCE	THE CAMPOOL OF THIS ROPE
White was	The responding of Leginority (1970) is 1980 to a
	The same of the sa
COPY OF THIS REPORT DELIVERE	D TO ABOVE INMATE BY PRINTED NAME
SIGNATURE	DATE AND TIME 1238 AM/PM

ESSEX COUNTY

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

B. INVESTIGATION OF ALLEGED INFRACTION

() INMATE PLEADS GUILTY	a meso	(X) INMATE PLEADS NO	OT GUILTY
STATEMENT OF INMATE CONCERNING CH		WHE THERE ITE. 131	degaino
3741 74 38 3 17	No comment	20 JULIUU V 95290 5	o House
STATEMENT(S) OF WITNESS(ES)	Liguidal	PTICER'S NAME	PURTINGO
NAME OF WITNESS	N/T	DOCKET NO	TIER
STATEMENT	NA	SOLD INFRACTION	ALEXALE VISUARINA
3 See Mail		martuse 11 40	43219013
NAME OF WITNESS		DOCKET NO.	TIER
STATEMENT	NA		
200	W. CONTRACT - 4 CO. C. C.	the water and when	DAN TYPE
S .			
OTHER FACTS CONCERNING THE CHARG	Ε	/A	
The west and the way	Janual .	H ALLEGERBRICHMCTRON	CRIPTION
INVESTIGATOR'S COMMENTS AND CONC	LUSIONS BASEO	od my woostsytuu i	mies
The state of the s	1.1	le suladas A had us	H-vage
200 2007			JON'NO.
IS A COUNSEL SUBSTITUTE REQUESTED		() YES	МО
NAME OF COUNSEL SUBSTITUTE REQUE	STED	W/C	DONITATION
COMMENTS ON INMATE'S REQUEST FOR AND CROSS EXAMINATION	COUNSEL SUBSTIT	UTE, WITNESS(ES) OR CONF	RONTATION
INVESTIGATOR'S NAME	11 - A 1	(SIGNATURE)	40.412
DATE LAND TIME OF	(PRINT) SIGNATUR	THEN YOUR WANTE	A 315 - 319